
 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

__________________________________________ 
       ) 
RUCKUS WIRELESS, INC.,     )    
       ) 
       ) 
  Plaintiff,    ) 
       ) 
 v.      ) Civil Action No.1:13-cv-00504 
       )  
INNOVATIVE WIRELESS SOLUTIONS, LLC, ) 
       ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
  Defendant.    ) 
__________________________________________) 
 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

Plaintiff Ruckus Wireless, Inc. (“Ruckus”) files this Complaint for Declaratory Judgment 

(“Complaint”) against Defendant Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC (“IWS”).  Ruckus seeks 

declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, declaring United States Patent Nos. 

5,912,895 (the “’895 Patent”), 6,327,264 (the “’264 Patent”) and 6,587,473 (the “’473 Patent”) 

(collectively the “patents-in-suit”) to be not infringed and to be invalid.   

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff Ruckus is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 

350 West Java Drive, Sunnyvale, CA  94089. 

2. IWS is a Texas Limited Liability Company with a purported principal place of 

business at 800 S. Austin Avenue, Suite 200, Georgetown, TX 78626-5848.  IWS also has a 

registered agent, BlumbergExcelsior Corporate Services, Inc., located at 814 San Jacinto 

Boulevard, Suite 303, Austin, Texas 78701.  See Franchise Tax Account Status on file with the 

Texas Office of the Comptroller, attached as Exhibit “A;” see also Records from the Texas 
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Secretary of State, attached as Exhibit “B.”  On information and belief, IWS is a shell entity that 

has been organized, in part, to hide the identity of the individuals and/or entities who control and 

are participating in, and/or obtaining benefit from, the activities of IWS and to make it more 

difficult to determine the appropriate venue for any case in which IWS is involved.   

 
BACKGROUND STATEMENT 

3.   Ruckus brings this declaratory judgment action to protect the purchasers of 

Ruckus’ products from the most recent recurring scourge on this country’s patent system.  IWS 

is a patent assertion entity that, on information and belief, has been set up to monetize patents by 

filing strike suits against mere end users of 802.11 standard compliant products (also known as 

Wi-Fi products) for the purpose of obtaining licensing and settlement amounts to which they are 

not entitled.  As explained in detail herein, rather than seek to license its patents to Ruckus and 

other manufactures of Wi-Fi compliant products, IWS instead sent demand letters to end users 

that have purchased Ruckus products that are compliant with the Wi-Fi standards.  Within two 

weeks of sending the letters, IWS filed 41 lawsuits against end users of Ruckus products and/or 

other similar products.   In turn, Ruckus received indemnity demands in connection with these 

lawsuits.   

4.   On information and belief, IWS is pursuing a litigation strategy of suing retail 

purchasers, as opposed to the actual manufacturers of the standard compliant Wi-Fi products 

(e.g., Ruckus), in order to leverage the cost of litigation against targets that do not have the 

resources, inclination or technical knowledge about the products or standards necessary to 

defend against IWS’ allegations.  On information and belief, IWS is targeting this class of users 

in order to obtain licenses and settlements that bear no reasonable relation to the value, if any, or 

scope of the patents-in-suit.   
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5. Although the 41 lawsuits were dismissed without prejudice on June 7 and June 

10, 2013, on information and belief, IWS is intent on re-filing these lawsuits against these retail 

purchasers after correcting one or more procedural deficiencies. 

6.   IWS’ infringement allegations are not purchaser-specific and, instead, are directed 

at the design and operation of the accused 802.11 standard compliant Wi-Fi products offered by 

Ruckus and others.  In the letters sent by IWS from its offices in this judicial district, IWS 

alleges infringement based on the accused infringers’ purchase and use of the Wi-Fi products.  

See e.g., Letter dated April 10, 2013 from IWS, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “C.”  

Notably, this letter reflects a “copy and paste” strategy pursuant to which all the purchasers are 

accused of the identical acts of infringement based on a generic purchase and use theory. 

7.   As evidenced by the recent editorial in the New York Times authored, in part, by 

Chief Judge Rader of the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, IWS’ litigation 

tactics of pursuing claims against end purchasers, rather than product suppliers, if allowed to go 

forward, would be an improper use of the U.S. Federal Court system and an undue burden on the 

Courts and the business community.  As Judge Rader states: 

The onslaught of litigation brought by “patent trolls” — who 
typically buy up a slew of patents, then sue anyone and everyone 
who might be using or selling the claimed inventions — has 
slowed the development of new products, increased costs for 
businesses and consumers, and clogged our judicial system. 

Their business plan is simple: trolls (intellectual-property lawyers 
use less evocative terms like “non-practicing entities” and “patent-
assertion entities”) make money by threatening companies with 
expensive lawsuits and then using that cudgel, rather than the 
merits of a case, to extract a financial settlement. In the apt 
summary of President Obama, who on Tuesday announced a plan 
to stave off frivolous patent litigation, trolls just want to “hijack 
somebody else’s idea and see if they can extort some money.” 

* * * 
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In the meantime, vexatious patent litigation continues to grind 
through our already crowded courts, costing defendants and 
taxpayers tens of billions of dollars each year and delaying justice 
for those who legitimately need a fair hearing of their claims. 
Trolls, in fact, filed the majority of the roughly 4,700 patent suits 
in 2012 — and many of those were against small companies and 
start-ups that often can’t afford to fight back.  

* * *  

8.   Accordingly, Ruckus brings this Declaratory Judgment action because it already 

has received indemnity demands related to the purchase of its products because of IWS’ claims 

and has the expectation of receiving additional indemnity demands.  See Arris Group, Inc. v. 

British Telecomms. PLC, 639 F.3d 1368 (Fed. Cir. 2011). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE  

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Ruckus’ request for a declaratory 

judgment under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202.  This action arises under the patent laws of the 

United States, 35 U.S.C. §§ 100 et seq., which are within the subject matter jurisdiction of this 

Court under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a).  

10. IWS’ threat letters and the cases it filed allege infringement of the patents-in-suit 

by, among others, the purchasers of Ruckus’ wireless access points that comply with certain 

amendments of the IEEE 802.11 standard.  In turn, these purchasers made indemnity demands 

that are directed to Ruckus.  Thus, the allegations made by IWS in its various filed cases and in 

its threat letters give rise to an actual and justiciable controversy between Ruckus and IWS as to 

the noninfringement and invalidity of the patents-in-suit. 

11. IWS’ lawsuits and infringement allegations threaten actual and imminent injury to 

Ruckus that can be redressed by judicial relief and that injury is of sufficient immediacy and 

reality to warrant the issuance of a declaratory judgment.   Absent a declaration of 
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noninfringement and/or invalidity, IWS’ continued wrongful assertions of infringement related 

to the use of Ruckus’ products will cause Ruckus harm. 

12. IWS is subject to general and specific personal jurisdiction in this judicial district 

based upon its purposeful, systematic, and continuous contacts with Texas, including forming 

under the laws of Texas, maintaining an address in and sending threat letters from this judicial 

district and maintaining a registered agent in this judicial district. 

13. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because IWS resides in this 

judicial district and, as described below, a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claims 

at issue occurred in this judicial district and because IWS is subject to personal jurisdiction 

within this judicial district. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
 

14. Ruckus is a global supplier of advanced wireless systems including wireless 

access points.  Ruckus’ wireless access points are purchased by various enterprises, including 

hotels and restaurants, which in turn offer Wi-Fi, or wireless Internet service, to their customers 

or use it internally in their businesses. 

15. Among the wireless access points sold by Ruckus are access points that are 

compliant with the IEEE 802.11 standard. 

16. Upon information and belief, IWS is a non-practicing entity organized for the 

specific purpose of pursing infringement lawsuits and improperly shielding the real parties in 

interest from exposure and liability associated with the lawsuits, such as may result from an 

imposition of costs or attorneys’ fees that may be obtained by the defendants in the lawsuits, 

and/or to hide prior actions of, or obligations that might be owed by, the real parties in interest.  

IWS does not commercialize any products or services embodying the patents-in-suit. 
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17. IWS purports to be the owner of the ’895 Patent. The ‘895 Patent is entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines” and issued on June 15, 1999.  A copy of the ’895 Patent is attached as Exhibit 

“D.” 

18. IWS purports to be the owner of the ’264 Patent. The ‘264 Patent is entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines” and issued on December 4, 2001.  A copy of the ’264 Patent is attached as 

Exhibit “E.” 

19. IWS purports to be the owner of the ’473 Patent. The ‘473 Patent is entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines” and issued on July 1, 2003.  A copy of the ’473 Patent is attached as Exhibit 

“F.” 

20. IWS’ ownership claims appear to flow from a series of recent assignments from 

multiple limited liability companies, allegedly culminating with an assignment by Generation 

Wireless Solutions LLC to IWS on March 5, 2013, i.e., less than two months before IWS filed 

suit against purchasers of Ruckus’ products.  A copy of the assignment records available on the 

USPTO’s website is attached as Exhibit “G.” 

21. IWS is represented by Farney Daniels PC, a law firm located in Georgetown, 

Texas.  Attorneys associated with Farney Daniels are listed as correspondents on the Patent 

Assignment Abstracts of Title for the patents-in-suit.  Upon information and belief, Farney 

Daniels represented IWS in connection with the assignment of the patents-in-suit to IWS.  On 

information and belief, in addition to representing non-practicing entities, the Farney Daniels law 
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firm and/or at least one of its principles and/or that principle’s relatives own or control other non-

practicing entities that currently are suing various other entities. 

22. IWS’ filings with the Texas Secretary of State and other records on file with the 

Texas Office of the Comptroller all show that IWS’ actual place of business is the same address 

from which the assignment of the patents-in-suit was negotiated and from which its demand 

letters were sent in April, 2013, i.e,. 800 S. Austin Avenue, Suite 200, Georgetown, TX 78626-

5848.  This also is the address for the Farney Daniels law firm in Georgetown, TX.  Because 

IWS has concealed the identity of the real parties in interest involved in its licensing and 

litigation business, Ruckus is unable to determine whether the Farney Daniels law firm is a real 

party in interest behind IWS. 

23. Although, IWS alleged in its recently dismissed lawsuits that its place of business 

is 555 Republic Drive, Suite 200, Plano Texas 75074, this is a sham address and contradicted by  

IWS’ filings with the State of Texas.  Upon information and belief, IWS has alleged a place of 

business at 555 Republic Drive, Suite 200, Plano Texas 75074 solely for the purpose of 

fraudulently generating venue in the Eastern District of Texas. 

24. IWS’ name does not appear anywhere at 555 Republic Drive, Plano Texas 75074 

and, based on investigation, IWS does not maintain a permanent presence at 555 Republic Drive, 

Suite 200, Plano Texas 75074. 

25. On April 24, 2013, IWS commenced 41 patent infringement suits against various 

defendants in the Eastern District of Texas, alleging infringement of one or more of the patents-

in-suit.   

26. IWS sued, among others, entities that purchased Ruckus wireless access points.   
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27. The Complaints filed by IWS all make similar allegations, alleging infringement 

based upon defendants’ alleged conduct related to making, using, offering to sell, and selling the 

use of components in an IEEE 802.11 wireless network.  See e.g., Complaint filed in Innovative 

Wireless Solutions, LLC v. Wyndham Hotel Group, LLC, Case No. 2:13-CV-308 (E.D. Tex.); 

Complaint filed in Innovative Wireless Solutions LLC v. La Quinta Inn Worldwide LLC et al, 

Case No. 2:13-CV-342 (E.D. Tex.); Complaint filed in Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC v. 

Starbucks Corporation, Case No. 2:13:cv00309 (E.D. TX); Complaint filed in  Innovative Wireless 

Solutions, LLC v. Heritage Inn Number 7, LP, et al, Case No.13:cv-00343 (E.D. TX).  Copies of the 

Complaints filed in these actions are attached as Exhibits “H”-“K” respectively.   

28. IWS dismissed each of the lawsuits it filed without prejudice and, upon 

information and belief, is intent on re-filing those lawsuits against, among others, purchasers of 

Ruckus’ products. 

29. Immediately prior to initiating these lawsuits, IWS sent demand letters to the 

parties it sued (not all of which are purchasers of Ruckus products).  The demand letters are 

virtually identical, alleging infringement of the patents-in-suit based upon the use and operation 

of the accused parties’ “802.11 wireless networks.”  See e.g., Letter dated April 10, 2013 from 

IWS, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “C.” 

30. Upon information and belief, the return address for the letters sent by IWS is 

IWS’ business address at 800 S. Austin Ave., Suite 200, Georgetown, Texas 78626 and the 

letters were mailed from zip code 78626 – the zip code for Georgetown, Texas.  The letters were 

signed by Paul Heath, who is a member of Auctus Capital Investments, LLC, which claims to be 

the manager for IWS. 
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31. For the parties that IWS sued or threatened with suit and that purchased Ruckus 

wireless access points, access to those parties’ 802.11 wireless networks may be facilitated, in 

whole or in part, by an access point sold by Ruckus.  

32. Ruckus received several demands from one or more of the parties sued by IWS, 

based on agreements and/or the UCC and related to IWS' patent infringement claims, that IWS, 

as the manufacturer of wireless access points used by those parties, defend and indemnify those 

parties against IWS’ infringement claims.  See e.g., Letter dated May 6, 2013 from James E. 

Youngblood to Selina Yo, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “L.”  

COUNT I 
Declaratory Judgment of NonInfringement of the ’895 Patent 

33. Ruckus incorporates the foregoing paragraphs by reference as though set forth 

fully herein. 

34. No claim of the ’895 Patent has been or is infringed, either directly or indirectly, 

by Ruckus or the purchasers of Ruckus’ products through their use of Ruckus products. 

35. As a result of the acts described in the foregoing paragraphs, there exists a 

substantial controversy of sufficient immediacy and reality between IWS and Ruckus to warrant 

the issuance of a declaratory judgment that Ruckus has not infringed, and does not infringe, 

directly or indirectly, any valid claim of the ’895 Patent. 

 
COUNT II 

Declaratory Judgment of Invalidity of the ’895 Patent 

36. Ruckus incorporates the foregoing paragraphs by reference as though set forth 

fully herein. 

37. The claims of the ’895 Patent are invalid for failure to comply with the 

requirements of patentability as specified in 35 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq., including, without limitation, 
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35 U.S.C. §§ 102, 103, and/or 112, and/or based on other judicially-created bases for 

invalidation. 

38. As a result of the acts described in the foregoing paragraphs, there exists a 

substantial controversy of sufficient immediacy and reality between IWS and Ruckus to warrant 

the issuance of a declaratory judgment that the claims of the ’895 Patent are invalid. 

COUNT III 
Declaratory Judgment of NonInfringement of the ’264 Patent 

 
39. Ruckus incorporates the foregoing paragraphs by reference as though set forth 

fully herein. 

40. No claim of the ’264 Patent has been or is infringed, either directly or indirectly, 

by Ruckus or the purchasers of Ruckus’ products through their use of Ruckus products. 

41. As a result of the acts described in the foregoing paragraphs, there exists a 

substantial controversy of sufficient immediacy and reality between IWS and Ruckus to warrant 

the issuance of a declaratory judgment that Ruckus has not infringed, and does not infringe, 

directly or indirectly, any valid claim of the ’264 Patent. 

COUNT IV 
Declaratory Judgment of Invalidity of the ’264 Patent 

 
42. Ruckus incorporates the foregoing paragraphs by reference as though set forth 

fully herein. 

43. The claims of the ’264 Patent are invalid for failure to comply with the 

requirements of patentability as specified in 35 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq., including, without limitation, 

35 U.S.C. §§ 102, 103, and/or 112, and/or based on other judicially-created bases for 

invalidation. 
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44. As a result of the acts described in the foregoing paragraphs, there exists a 

substantial controversy of sufficient immediacy and reality between IWS and Ruckus to warrant 

the issuance of a declaratory judgment that the claims of the ’264 Patent are invalid. 

COUNT V 
Declaratory Judgment of NonInfringement of the ’473 Patent 

 
45. Ruckus incorporates the foregoing paragraphs by reference as though set forth 

fully herein. 

46. No claim of the ’473 Patent has been or is infringed, either directly or indirectly, 

by Ruckus or the purchasers of Ruckus’ products through their use of Ruckus products. 

47. As a result of the acts described in the foregoing paragraphs, there exists a 

substantial controversy of sufficient immediacy and reality between IWS and Ruckus to warrant 

the issuance of a declaratory judgment that Ruckus has not infringed, and does not infringe, 

directly or indirectly, any valid claim of the ’473 Patent. 

 
COUNT VI 

Declaratory Judgment of Invalidity of the ’473 Patent 
 

48. Ruckus incorporates the foregoing paragraphs by reference as though set forth 

fully herein. 

49. The claims of the ’473 Patent are invalid for failure to comply with the 

requirements of patentability as specified in 35 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq., including, without limitation, 

35 U.S.C. §§ 102, 103, and/or 112, and/or based on other judicially-created bases for 

invalidation. 

50. As a result of the acts described in the foregoing paragraphs, there exists a 

substantial controversy of sufficient immediacy and reality between IWS and Ruckus to warrant 

the issuance of a declaratory judgment that the claims of the ’473 Patent are invalid. 
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PRAYERS FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Ruckus prays for: 

(a)  A declaration that Ruckus and the purchasers of Ruckus’ products have not 

infringed and are not infringing, either directly or indirectly, any claim of the ’895, ’264, and 

’473 Patents; 

(b)  A declaration that each claim of the ’895, ’264, and ’473 Patents are invalid; 

(c)  An order that IWS and each of its officers, employees, agents, attorneys, and any 

persons in active concert or participation with them are restrained and enjoined from further 

prosecuting or instituting any action against Ruckus or the purchasers of Ruckus’ products 

claiming that the ’895, ’264, and ’473 Patents are infringed or from representing that Ruckus’ 

products or their use in the networks operated by the purchasers of those products infringe the 

’895, ’264, and ’473 Patents; 

(d)  A declaration that this is an exceptional case under 35 U.S.C. § 285; 

(d)  An award to Ruckus of its costs and attorneys’ fees; 

(e)  Such other relief as this Court or a jury may deem proper and just under the 

circumstances.  

JURY DEMAND 

Ruckus demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 
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Respectfully Submitted, 
 
Dated:  June 14, 2013 

 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF RUCKUS 
WIRELESS, INC. 
 
/s/ Thomas W. Sankey    
Thomas W. Sankey 
Texas State Bar No. 17635670 
twsankey@duanemorris.com 
Diana M. Sangalli 
Texas State Bar No. 24033926 
dmsangalli@duanemorris.com 
DUANE MORRIS LLP 
1330 Post Oak Boulevard, Suite 800 
Houston, TX 77056-3166 
Tel: 713-402-3900 
Fax: 713-402-3901 

 
Of Counsel (Applications for Pro Hac 
Admission Pending): 
 
Woody Jameson 
wjameson@duanemorris.com 
Matthew S. Yungwirth 
msyungwirth@duanemorris.com 
DUANE MORRIS LLP 
Suite 2000 
1075 Peachtree Street NE 
Atlanta, GA 30309 
Tel: 404-253-6900 
Fax: 404-253-6901 
 
Jeffrey S. Pollack 
jspollack@duanemorris.com 
DUANE MORRIS LLP 
30 South 17th Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 
Tel: 215-979-1000 
Fax: 215-979-1020 
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Franchise Tax Account Status
As of: 06/11/2013 12:46:27 PM 

This Page is Not Sufficient for Filings with the Secretary of State 

 
INNOVATIVE WIRELESS SOLUTIONS, LLC 

Texas Taxpayer Number 32050307373

Mailing Address 800 S AUSTIN AVE # 200 
GEORGETOWN, TX 78626-5848 

Right to Transact 
Business in Texas 

ACTIVE 

State of Formation TX

Effective SOS 
Registration Date

02/26/2013 

Texas SOS File Number 0801740548 

Registered Agent Name BLUMBERGEXCELSIOR CORPORATE SERVICES, INC.

Registered Office Street 
Address

814 SAN JACINTO BLVD., SUITE 303 
AUSTIN, TX 78701

Page 1 of 1Franchise Tax Account Status

6/11/2013https://ourcpa.cpa.state.tx.us/coa/servlet/cpa.app.coa.CoaGetTp?Pg=tpid&Search_Nm=Inn...
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United States Patent and Trademark Office 

Home|Site Index|Search|Guides|Contacts|eBusiness|eBiz alerts|News|Help

Assignments on the Web > Patent Query

Patent Assignment Abstract of Title 
NOTE:Results display only for issued patents and published applications. 
For pending or abandoned applications please consult USPTO staff. 
 

Total Assignments: 8
Patent #: 6587473 Issue Dt: 07/01/2003 Application #: 09930178 Filing Dt: 08/16/2001

Publication #: 20030002519 Pub Dt: 01/02/2003

Inventors: John Brian Terry, Roger St. Patrick Richards

Title: INFORMATION NETWORK ACCESS APPARATUS AND METHODS FOR COMMUNICATING INFORMATION PACKETS VIA 
TELEPHONE LINES

Assignment: 1
Reel/Frame: 012821/0992 Recorded: 04/24/2002 Pages: 2

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignors: TERRY, JOHN BRIAN Exec Dt: 06/07/1996

ST. PATRICK, ROGER Exec Dt: 06/07/1996

Assignee: NORTHERN TELECOM LIMITED 
P.O. BOX 6123, STATION A
MONTREAL, QUEBEC, CANADA H3C 3

Correspondent: THOMAS, KAYDEN, HORSTEMEYER & RISLEY LLP
SCOTT A. HORSTEMEYER
100 GALLERIA PARKWAY, SUITE 1750
ATLANTA, GEORGIA 30339-5948

Assignment: 2
Reel/Frame: 012847/0260 Recorded: 04/24/2002 Pages: 4

Conveyance: CHANGE OF NAME (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: NORTHERN TELECOM LIMITED Exec Dt: 04/29/1999

Assignee: NORTEL NETWORKS CORPORATION 
380 ST. ANTOINE STREET WEST 8TH FL.
MONTREAL, QUEBEC H2Y 3Y4, CANADA

Correspondent: THOMAS, KAYDEN, HORSTEMEYER & ET AL
SCOTT A. HORSTEMEYER
100 GALLERIA PARKWAY
SUITE 1750
ATLANTA, GA 30339-5948

Assignment: 3
Reel/Frame: 012847/0239 Recorded: 04/24/2002 Pages: 5

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: NORTEL NETWORKS, INC. Exec Dt: 05/24/1999

Assignee: ELASTIC NETWORKS INC. 
6120 WINDWARD PARKWAY, STE. 100
ALPHARETTA, GEORGIA 30005

Correspondent: THOMAS, KAYDEN, HORSTEMEYER, RISLEY, LLP
SCOTT A. HORSTEMEYER
100 GALLERIA PARKWAY, SUITE 1750
ATLANTA, GA 30339-5948

Assignment: 4

Page 1 of 3USPTO Assignments on the Web

6/10/2013http://assignments.uspto.gov/assignments/q?db=pat&qt=pat&reel=&frame=&pat=6587473...
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Reel/Frame: 012866/0243 Recorded: 04/24/2002 Pages: 4

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: NORTEL NETWORKS CORPORATION Exec Dt: 05/24/1999

Assignee: NORTEL NETWORKS INC. 
200 ATHENS WAY
NORTHERN TELECOM PLAZA
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37228

Correspondent: THOMAS, KAYDEN, HORSTEMEYER ET AL.
SCOTT A. HORSTEMEYER
100 GALLERIA PARKWAY, STE. 1750
ATLANTA, GA 30339-5948

Assignment: 5
Reel/Frame: 025934/0223 Recorded: 03/08/2011 Pages: 8

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: ZHONE TECHNOLOGIES, INC. Exec Dt: 02/14/2011

Assignee: PATENT BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT, LLC 
506 BALD EAGLE DRIVE
JUPITER, FLORIDA 33477

Correspondent: ROBERT A. WESTERLUND
506 BALD EAGLE DRIVE
JUPITER, FL 33477

Assignment: 6
Reel/Frame: 029356/0077 Recorded: 11/27/2012 Pages: 5

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: PATENT BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT, LLC Exec Dt: 05/23/2012

Assignee: CLEARWATER INNOVATIONS, LLC 
3411 SILVERSIDE ROAD, SUITE 108
WEBSTER BUILDING
WILMINGTON, DELAWARE 19810

Correspondent: M. VANESSAH MELTON
800 S. AUSTIN AVE., SUITE 200
GEORGETOWN, TX 78626-5845

Assignment: 7
Reel/Frame: 029366/0510 Recorded: 11/28/2012 Pages: 3

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: CLEARWATER INNOVATIONS, LLC Exec Dt: 05/23/2012

Assignee: GENERATION WIRELESS SOLUTIONS, LLC 
1209 ORANGE STREET
WILMINGTON, DELAWARE 19801

Correspondent: M. VANESSAH MELTON
800 S. AUSTIN AVE., SUITE 200
GEORGETOWN, TX 78626-5845

Assignment: 8
Reel/Frame: 029966/0798 Recorded: 03/11/2013 Pages: 4

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: GENERATION WIRELESS SOLUTIONS, LLC Exec Dt: 03/05/2013

Assignee: INNOVATIVE WIRELESS SOLUTIONS, LLC 
555 REPUBLIC DRIVE, SUITE 200
PLANO, TEXAS 75074

Correspondent: STEPHANIE WOOD
800 S. AUSTIN AVE., UNIT 200
GEORGETOWN, TX 78626

Search Results as of: 06/10/2013 03:55 PM
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United States Patent and Trademark Office 

Home|Site Index|Search|Guides|Contacts|eBusiness|eBiz alerts|News|Help

Assignments on the Web > Patent Query

Patent Assignment Abstract of Title 
NOTE:Results display only for issued patents and published applications. 
For pending or abandoned applications please consult USPTO staff. 
 

Total Assignments: 12
Patent #: 5912895 Issue Dt: 06/15/1999 Application #: 08640705 Filing Dt: 05/01/1996

Inventors: JOHN B. TERRY, ROGER ST. PATRICK RICHARDS

Title: INFORMATION NETWORK ACCESS APPARATUS AND METHODS FOR COMMUNICATING INFORMATION PACKETS VIA 
TELEPHONE LINES

Assignment: 1
Reel/Frame: 008193/0242 Recorded: 10/24/1996 Pages: 2

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignors: TERRY, JOHN BRIAN Exec Dt: 06/07/1996

RICHARDS, ROGER ST. PATRICK Exec Dt: 06/07/1996

Assignee: NORTHERN TELECOM LIMITED 
STATION A
P.O. BOX 6123
MONTREAL, QUEBEC, CANADA H3C 3

Correspondent: FOLEY & LARDNER
ARTHUR SCHWARTZ
3000 K ST., N.W.
SUITE 500
WASHINGTON, DC 20007-5109

Assignment: 2
Reel/Frame: 010255/0996 Recorded: 09/24/1999 Pages: 4

Conveyance: CHANGE OF NAME (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: NORTHERN TELECOM LIMITED Exec Dt: 04/29/1999

Assignee: NORTEL NETWORKS CORPORATION 
WORLD TRADE CENTER OF MONTREAL, 8TH FLOOR
380 ST. ANTOINE STREET WEST
MONTREAL, QUEBEC, CANADA H2Y 3

Correspondent: FOLEY & LARDNER
BRIAN J. MCNAMARA
3000 K STREET, NW, SUITE 500
WASHINGTON, DC 20007

Assignment: 3
Reel/Frame: 010567/0001 Recorded: 12/23/1999 Pages: 62

Conveyance: CHANGE OF NAME (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: NORTHERN TELECOM LIMITED Exec Dt: 04/29/1999

Assignee: NORTEL NETWORKS CORPORATION 
WORLD TRADE CENTER OF MONTREAL, 380 ST. ANTOINE STREET WEST, 8TH FLOOR
MONTREAL, QUEBEC, CANADA H2Y 3

Correspondent: NORTEL NETWORKS, INC.
W. GLEN JOHNSON
P.O. BOX 832130
RICHARDSON, TX 75083-2130

Page 1 of 4USPTO Assignments on the Web
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Assignment: 4
Reel/Frame: 010262/0282 Recorded: 09/24/1999 Pages: 5

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: NORTEL NETWORKS INC. Exec Dt: 05/24/1999

Assignee: ELASTIC NETWORKS INC. 
6120 WINDWARD PARKWAY, SUITE 100
ALPHARETTA, GEORGIA 30005

Correspondent: FOLEY & LARDNER
BRIAN J. MCNAMARA
3000 K STREET NW, SUITE 500
WASHINGTON, DC 20007

Assignment: 5
Reel/Frame: 010263/0001 Recorded: 09/24/1999 Pages: 4

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: NORTEL NETWORKS CORPORATION Exec Dt: 05/24/1999

Assignee: NORTEL NETWORKS INC. 
NORTHERN TELECOM PLAZA
200 ATHENS WAY
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37228

Correspondent: FOLEY & LARDNER
BRIAN J. MCNAMARA
3000 K STREET NW, SUITE 500
WASHINGTON, DC 20007

Assignment: 6
Reel/Frame: 011035/0074 Recorded: 08/08/2000 Pages: 24

Conveyance: SECURITY INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: ELASTIC NETWORKS INC., A DELAWARE CORPORATION Exec Dt: 08/04/2000

Assignee: PEQUOT PRIVATE EQUITY FUND II L.P. 
A DELAWARE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
500 NYALA FARM ROAD
WESTPORT, CONNECTICUT 06880

Correspondent: DEWEY BALLANTINE LLP
LISA HALUSTICK
1301 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS
NEW YORK, NY 10019-6092

Assignment: 7
Reel/Frame: 011195/0706 Recorded: 08/30/2000 Pages: 251

Conveyance: CHANGE OF NAME (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: NORTEL NETWORKS CORPORATION Exec Dt: 08/30/2000

Assignee: NORTEL NETWORKS LIMITED 
WORLD TRADE CENTER OF MONTREAL
380 ST. ANTOINE STREET WEST, 8TH FLOOR
MONTREAL, QUEBEC, CANADA H2Y 3

Correspondent: NORTEL NETWORKS LIMITED
W. GLEN JOHNSON
2100 LAKESIDE BLVD.
M/S 468/05/B10, IP LAW GROUP
RICHARDSON, TX 75082-4399

Assignment: 8
Reel/Frame: 011436/0970 Recorded: 01/08/2001 Pages: 9

Conveyance: RELEASE

Assignors: PEQUOT PRIVATE EQUITY FUND II, L.P. Exec Dt: 11/13/2000

NORTEL NETWORKS INC. Exec Dt: 12/21/2000

Page 2 of 4USPTO Assignments on the Web
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Assignee: ELASTIC NETWORKS INC. 
SUITE 100
6120 WINDWARD PARKWAY
ALPHARETTA, GEORGIA 30005

Correspondent: HUNTON & WILLIAMS
LISA NAGLE
BANK OF AMERICA PLAZA, SUITE 4100
600 PEACHTREE STREET, NE
ATLANTA, GEORGIA 30308

Assignment: 9
Reel/Frame: 025934/0223 Recorded: 03/08/2011 Pages: 8

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: ZHONE TECHNOLOGIES, INC. Exec Dt: 02/14/2011

Assignee: PATENT BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT, LLC 
506 BALD EAGLE DRIVE
JUPITER, FLORIDA 33477

Correspondent: ROBERT A. WESTERLUND
506 BALD EAGLE DRIVE
JUPITER, FL 33477

Assignment: 10
Reel/Frame: 029356/0077 Recorded: 11/27/2012 Pages: 5

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: PATENT BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT, LLC Exec Dt: 05/23/2012

Assignee: CLEARWATER INNOVATIONS, LLC 
3411 SILVERSIDE ROAD, SUITE 108
WEBSTER BUILDING
WILMINGTON, DELAWARE 19810

Correspondent: M. VANESSAH MELTON
800 S. AUSTIN AVE., SUITE 200
GEORGETOWN, TX 78626-5845

Assignment: 11
Reel/Frame: 029366/0510 Recorded: 11/28/2012 Pages: 3

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: CLEARWATER INNOVATIONS, LLC Exec Dt: 05/23/2012

Assignee: GENERATION WIRELESS SOLUTIONS, LLC 
1209 ORANGE STREET
WILMINGTON, DELAWARE 19801

Correspondent: M. VANESSAH MELTON
800 S. AUSTIN AVE., SUITE 200
GEORGETOWN, TX 78626-5845

Assignment: 12
Reel/Frame: 029966/0798 Recorded: 03/11/2013 Pages: 4

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: GENERATION WIRELESS SOLUTIONS, LLC Exec Dt: 03/05/2013

Assignee: INNOVATIVE WIRELESS SOLUTIONS, LLC 
555 REPUBLIC DRIVE, SUITE 200
PLANO, TEXAS 75074

Correspondent: STEPHANIE WOOD
800 S. AUSTIN AVE., UNIT 200
GEORGETOWN, TX 78626

Search Results as of: 06/10/2013 03:56 PM
If you have any comments or questions concerning the data displayed, contact PRD / Assignments at 571-272-3350. v.2.3.3

Web interface last modified: Apr 8, 2013 v.2.3.3

| .HOME | INDEX| SEARCH | eBUSINESS | CONTACT US | PRIVACY STATEMENT 
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United States Patent and Trademark Office 

Home|Site Index|Search|Guides|Contacts|eBusiness|eBiz alerts|News|Help

Assignments on the Web > Patent Query

Patent Assignment Abstract of Title 
NOTE:Results display only for issued patents and published applications. 
For pending or abandoned applications please consult USPTO staff. 
 

Total Assignments: 10
Patent #: 6327264 Issue Dt: 12/04/2001 Application #: 09251939 Filing Dt: 02/18/1999

Inventors: JOHN BRIAN TERRY, ROGER ST. PATRICK RICHARDS

Title: INFORMATION NETWORK ACCESS APPARATUS AND METHODS FOR COMMUNICATING INFORMATION PACKETS VIA 
TELEPHONE LINES 

Assignment: 1
Reel/Frame: 012866/0079 Recorded: 04/24/2002 Pages: 2

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignors: TERRY, JOHN BRIAN Exec Dt: 06/07/1996

ST. PATRICK, ROGER Exec Dt: 06/07/1996

Assignee: NORTHERN TELECOM LIMITED 
MONTREAL
P.O. BOX 6123, STATION A
QUEBEC, CANADA H3C 3

Correspondent: THOMAS, KYDEN, HORSTEMEYER ET AL.
SCOTT A. HORSTEMEYER
100 GALLERIA PARKWAY, SUITE 1750
ATLANTA, GA 30339-5948

Assignment: 2
Reel/Frame: 010261/0547 Recorded: 09/24/1999 Pages: 4

Conveyance: CHANGE OF NAME (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: NORTHERN TELECOM LIMITED Exec Dt: 04/29/1999

Assignee: NORTEL NETWORKS CORPORATION 
WORLD TRADE CENTER OF MONTREAL
380 ST. ANTOINE STREET WEST, 8TH FLOOR
MONTREAL, QUEBEC, CANADA H2Y 3

Correspondent: FOLEY & LARDNER
BRIAN J. MCNAMARA
3000 K STREET, N.W., SUITE 500
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20007

Assignment: 3
Reel/Frame: 010261/0536 Recorded: 09/24/1999 Pages: 4

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: NORTEL NETWORKS CORPORATION Exec Dt: 05/24/1999

Assignee: NORTEL NETWORKS INC. 
NORTHERN TELECOM PLAZA, 200 ATHENS WAY
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37228

Correspondent: FOLEY & LARDNER
BRIAN J. MCNAMARA
3000 K STREET, N.W., SUITE 500
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20007

Assignment: 4

Page 1 of 3USPTO Assignments on the Web
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Reel/Frame: 010261/0540 Recorded: 09/24/1999 Pages: 5

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: NORTEL NETWORKS INC. Exec Dt: 05/24/1999

Assignee: ELASTIC NETWORKS INC. 
6120 WINDWARD PARKWAY, SUITE 100
ALPHARETTA, GEORGIA 30005

Correspondent: FOLEY & LARDNER
BRIAN J. MCNAMARA
3000 K STREET, N.W., SUITE 500
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20007

Assignment: 5
Reel/Frame: 011035/0074 Recorded: 08/08/2000 Pages: 24

Conveyance: SECURITY INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: ELASTIC NETWORKS INC., A DELAWARE CORPORATION Exec Dt: 08/04/2000

Assignee: PEQUOT PRIVATE EQUITY FUND II L.P. 
A DELAWARE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
500 NYALA FARM ROAD
WESTPORT, CONNECTICUT 06880

Correspondent: DEWEY BALLANTINE LLP
LISA HALUSTICK
1301 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS
NEW YORK, NY 10019-6092

Assignment: 6
Reel/Frame: 011436/0970 Recorded: 01/08/2001 Pages: 9

Conveyance: RELEASE

Assignors: PEQUOT PRIVATE EQUITY FUND II, L.P. Exec Dt: 11/13/2000

NORTEL NETWORKS INC. Exec Dt: 12/21/2000

Assignee: ELASTIC NETWORKS INC. 
SUITE 100
6120 WINDWARD PARKWAY
ALPHARETTA, GEORGIA 30005

Correspondent: HUNTON & WILLIAMS
LISA NAGLE
BANK OF AMERICA PLAZA, SUITE 4100
600 PEACHTREE STREET, NE
ATLANTA, GEORGIA 30308

Assignment: 7
Reel/Frame: 025934/0223 Recorded: 03/08/2011 Pages: 8

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: ZHONE TECHNOLOGIES, INC. Exec Dt: 02/14/2011

Assignee: PATENT BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT, LLC 
506 BALD EAGLE DRIVE
JUPITER, FLORIDA 33477

Correspondent: ROBERT A. WESTERLUND
506 BALD EAGLE DRIVE
JUPITER, FL 33477

Assignment: 8
Reel/Frame: 029356/0077 Recorded: 11/27/2012 Pages: 5

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: PATENT BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT, LLC Exec Dt: 05/23/2012

Assignee: CLEARWATER INNOVATIONS, LLC 
3411 SILVERSIDE ROAD, SUITE 108
WEBSTER BUILDING

Page 2 of 3USPTO Assignments on the Web

6/10/2013http://assignments.uspto.gov/assignments/q?db=pat&qt=pat&reel=&frame=&pat=6327264...
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WILMINGTON, DELAWARE 19810

Correspondent: M. VANESSAH MELTON
800 S. AUSTIN AVE., SUITE 200
GEORGETOWN, TX 78626-5845

Assignment: 9
Reel/Frame: 029366/0510 Recorded: 11/28/2012 Pages: 3

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: CLEARWATER INNOVATIONS, LLC Exec Dt: 05/23/2012

Assignee: GENERATION WIRELESS SOLUTIONS, LLC 
1209 ORANGE STREET
WILMINGTON, DELAWARE 19801

Correspondent: M. VANESSAH MELTON
800 S. AUSTIN AVE., SUITE 200
GEORGETOWN, TX 78626-5845

Assignment: 10
Reel/Frame: 029966/0798 Recorded: 03/11/2013 Pages: 4

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Assignor: GENERATION WIRELESS SOLUTIONS, LLC Exec Dt: 03/05/2013

Assignee: INNOVATIVE WIRELESS SOLUTIONS, LLC 
555 REPUBLIC DRIVE, SUITE 200
PLANO, TEXAS 75074

Correspondent: STEPHANIE WOOD
800 S. AUSTIN AVE., UNIT 200
GEORGETOWN, TX 78626

Search Results as of: 06/10/2013 03:57 PM
If you have any comments or questions concerning the data displayed, contact PRD / Assignments at 571-272-3350. v.2.3.3

Web interface last modified: Apr 8, 2013 v.2.3.3

| .HOME | INDEX| SEARCH | eBUSINESS | CONTACT US | PRIVACY STATEMENT 
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United States Patent and Trademark Office 

Home|Site Index|Search|Guides|Contacts|eBusiness|eBiz alerts|News|Help

Assignments on the Web > Patent Query

Patent Assignment Details 
NOTE:Results display only for issued patents and published applications. 
For pending or abandoned applications please consult USPTO staff. 
 

Reel/Frame: 029966/0798   Pages: 4

Recorded: 03/11/2013

Conveyance: ASSIGNMENT OF ASSIGNORS INTEREST (SEE DOCUMENT FOR DETAILS).

Total properties: 3
1 Patent #: 5912895 Issue Dt: 06/15/1999 Application #: 08640705 Filing Dt: 05/01/1996

Title: INFORMATION NETWORK ACCESS APPARATUS AND METHODS FOR COMMUNICATING INFORMATION PACKETS 
VIA TELEPHONE LINES

2 Patent #: 6327264 Issue Dt: 12/04/2001 Application #: 09251939 Filing Dt: 02/18/1999

Title: INFORMATION NETWORK ACCESS APPARATUS AND METHODS FOR COMMUNICATING INFORMATION PACKETS 
VIA TELEPHONE LINES 

3 Patent #: 6587473 Issue Dt: 07/01/2003 Application #: 09930178 Filing Dt: 08/16/2001
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

MARSHALL DIVISION 

 

INNOVATIVE WIRELESS  §              
SOLUTIONS, LLC, §             Civil Case No.  
   § 
  Plaintiff, § 
   §  
 v.  §             JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
   § 
WYNDHAM HOTEL GROUP, LLC,  § 
    § 
   § 
   § 
  Defendant. § 

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

Plaintiff Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC, by way of its Complaint for Patent 

Infringement (“Complaint”) against Defendant Wyndham Hotel Group, LLC, alleges as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the 

United States, 35 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. 

  THE PARTIES 

2. Plaintiff Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC (“IWS”) is a Texas limited liability 

company with a place of business at 555 Republic Drive, Suite 200, Plano, Texas 75074. 

3. Defendant Wyndham Hotel Group, LLC is a limited liability corporation 

organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. On information and belief Wyndham has an 

address at 22 Sylvan Way Parsippany, New Jersey 07054.  On information and belief, Defendant 

Wyndham owns and operates multiple lodging facilities within this District. 

Case 2:13-cv-00308-JRG   Document 1    Filed 04/24/13   Page 1 of 15 PageID #:  1Case 1:13-cv-00504-LY   Document 1-8   Filed 06/14/13   Page 2 of 16



 

2 
 

4. Wyndham Hotel Group, LLC will be referred to herein as “Wyndham” or 

“Defendant.” 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the Patent Laws of the 

United States, Title 35 of the United States Code. 

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338. 

7. On information and belief, Defendant is subject to the jurisdiction of this Court by 

reason of its acts of patent infringement which have been committed in this Judicial District, and 

by virtue of its regularly conducted and systematic business contacts in this State.  Further, 

Defendant has operated infringing wireless networks in the forum which are at least used in 

and/or accessible at Defendant’s locations in this forum.  On information and belief, Defendant is 

subject to this Court’s specific and general personal jurisdiction, pursuant to due process and/or 

the Texas Long Arm Statute, due at least to its substantial business in this forum, including 

business related to the infringements alleged herein.  Further, on information and belief, 

Defendant is subject to the Court’s general jurisdiction as a result of its activities in the forum, 

including, regularly doing or soliciting business, engaging in other persistent courses of conduct, 

and/or deriving substantial revenue from goods and services provided to persons or entities in 

Texas.  As such, Defendant has purposefully availed itself of the privilege of conducting 

business within this Judicial District; has established sufficient minimum contacts with this 

Judicial District such that it should reasonably and fairly anticipate being haled into court in this 

Judicial District; has purposefully directed activities at residents of this State; and at least a 

portion of the patent infringement claims alleged herein arise out of or are related to one or more 

of the foregoing activities. 

8. Venue is proper in this Judicial District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(c) and 1400(b). 
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THE PATENTS-IN-SUIT 

9. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 8 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

10. On June 15, 1999, U.S. Patent Number 5,912,895 (the “‘895 Patent”), entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines,” was duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  

A true and correct copy of the ‘895 Patent is attached as Exhibit A to this Complaint. 

11. On December 4, 2001, U.S. Patent Number 6,327,264 (the “‘264 Patent”), entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines,” was duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  

A true and correct copy of the ‘264 Patent is attached as Exhibit B to this Complaint. 

12. On July 1, 2003, U.S. Patent Number 6,587,473 (the “‘473 Patent”), entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines,” was duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  

A true and correct copy of the ‘473 Patent is attached as Exhibit C to this Complaint. 

13. IWS is the assignee and owner of the right, title and interest in and to the ‘895, 

‘264 and ‘473 Patents (henceforth collectively the “patents-in-suit”) including the right to assert 

all causes of action arising under said patents and the right to any remedies for infringement.  

COUNT I – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 5,912,895 

14. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 13 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

15. IWS provided actual notice to Defendant of its infringement of the ‘895 Patent in 

its letter dated April 10, 2013 from IWS to Defendant.  In this letter, IWS informed Defendant 

that it was infringing the ‘895 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, and selling the use of an 
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IEEE 802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point (“WAP”) connected to an 

Ethernet network (collectively, “wireless Internet access”).  IWS’s letter further informed 

Defendant that its wireless network satisfied all of the limitations of at least claim 48 of the ‘895 

patent in at least the following manner:  

a. The WAP in the Defendant’s WiFi network provides communication with 

a CSMA/CD network (an Ethernet network) via a bidirectional communications path (an 

802.11 wireless path). 

b. The WAP is located at a first end of the 802.11 wireless path and includes 

an Ethernet interface to an Ethernet network.  Ethernet is a CSMA/CD technology.  The 

WAP includes a buffer for buffering information packets received from the Ethernet 

network via the Ethernet interface for supply to the 802.11 wireless path.  The WAP also 

includes a buffer for buffering information packets received from the 802.11 wireless 

path for supply to the Ethernet network via the Ethernet interface.  The WAP also 

includes a controller that implements the medium access control (“MAC”) protocol as 

defined in IEEE 802.11.  

c. A wireless station is connected at a second end of the 802.11 wireless 

path.  The wireless station includes a buffer for buffering information packets received 

from the 802.11 wireless path, a buffer for buffering information packets to be supplied 

to the 802.11 wireless path, and a MAC controller.   

d. The MAC controller in the WAP and the MAC controller in the wireless 

station are arranged to exchange control information over the 802.11 wireless path so as 

to allow information packets to be communicated bi-directionally over the 802.11 
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wireless path between the buffers of the WAP and the wireless station in a half-duplex 

manner. 

16. IWS’s letter further informed Defendant that it was inducing infringement of the 

‘895 Patent by offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and 

encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.  IWS’s letter also informed Defendant 

that it was contributing to infringement of the ‘895 Patent by providing wireless Internet access 

because its wireless network constitutes a material part of the invention, was especially made or 

especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘895 Patent, and has no substantial non-

infringing uses.  The letter explained that the Defendant’s wireless network constitutes a material 

part of the claimed invention at least because it contains the components that interface the 

wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control information to the wireless devices 

as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  The letter also explained that the Defendant’s wireless network 

was made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘895 Patent and has no 

substantial non-infringing uses at least because it contains components whose only purpose is to 

interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and to provide control information to the 

wireless devices as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  With respect to both induced infringement and 

contributory infringement, IWS’s letter informed Defendant that the direct infringers were its 

guests, customers and end users.   

17. Defendant has had actual knowledge of the ‘895 Patent and its infringement of 

that patent since at least the date that Defendant received the April 10, 2013 notice letter from 

IWS. 

18. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant has directly infringed and continues 

to directly infringe, both literally and under the doctrine of equivalents, the ‘895 Patent by 
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making, using, offering to sell, and selling the use of wireless networks, including an IEEE 

802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point coupled to an Ethernet network.   

19. Upon information and belief, Defendant has induced and continues to induce 

others to infringe the ‘895 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by, among other things, and with 

specific intent or willful blindness, actively aiding and abetting others to infringe, including, but 

not limited to, the Defendant’s customers and guests whose connection of wireless devices to the 

Defendant’s wireless networks and use of the Defendant’s wireless networks constitutes direct 

infringement of at least claim 48 of the ‘895 Patent.  In particular, the Defendant’s actions that 

aid and abet others such as its customers and guests to infringe include offering wireless Internet 

access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and encouraging others to use that wireless 

Internet access.  On information and belief, Defendant has engaged in such actions with specific 

intent to cause infringement or with willful blindness to the resulting infringement because 

Defendant has had actual knowledge of the ‘895 Patent and that its acts were inducing its 

customers and guests to infringe the ‘895 Patent since at least the date they received the notice 

letter from IWS notifying Defendant that its wireless networks infringed the ‘895 Patent.   

20. Upon information and belief, Defendant has committed and continues to commit 

acts of contributory infringement of the ‘895 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c) by offering to sell 

and selling the use of its wireless networks to others, including its customers and guests, while 

knowing or willfully blind to the fact that that these products constitute a material part of the 

invention, were especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘895 

Patent, and have no substantial non-infringing uses.  The Defendant’s wireless networks 

constitute a material part of the invention at least because they contain the components that 

interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control information to the 
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wireless devices as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  Defendant’s wireless networks were especially 

made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘895 Patent and have no substantial 

non-infringing uses at least because they contain components whose only purpose is to interface 

the Defendant’s wireless networks to an Ethernet network and to provide control information to 

the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  Defendant’s customers and guests directly 

infringe at least claim 48 of the ‘895 Patent by connecting its wireless device to the Defendant’s 

wireless networks.  Defendant has known or remained willfully blind to these facts since at least 

the date it received the notice letter from IWS notifying Defendant that the use of its wireless 

networks infringed the ‘895 Patent. 

21. IWS has been harmed by the Defendant’s infringing activities.  

22. IWS notified Defendant of its infringement of the ‘895 Patent including an 

identification of the particular infringing product and features, but Defendant thereafter 

continued to infringe the ‘895 Patent by continuing the activities described in Paragraph 15-16.  

On information and belief, Defendant has not obtained an opinion of counsel regarding the 

claims of ‘895 Patent.  The Defendant’s continued infringement has therefore been in reckless 

disregard of IWS’s patent rights.  On information and belief, the Defendant’s infringement has 

been and continues to be willful. 

COUNT II – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,327,264 

23. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 22 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

24. IWS provided actual notice to Defendant of its infringement of the ‘264 Patent in 

its letter dated April 10, 2013 from IWS to Defendant.  In this letter, IWS informed Defendant 

that it was infringing the ‘264 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, and selling the use of an 

IEEE 802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point connected to an Ethernet 
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network.  IWS’s letter further informed Defendant that its wireless network satisfied all of the 

limitations of at least claim 5 of the ‘264 patent in at least the following manner:  

a. The WAP in the Defendant’s WiFi network allows wireless devices to 

connect to a network. 

b. The WAP includes an Ethernet interface for coupling to an Ethernet 

network.  Ethernet is a CSMA/CD technology. 

c. The WAP includes an 802.11 interface for coupling to the 802.11 wireless 

network which provides a wireless bidirectional communications path.   

d. The WAP includes a controller that implements the medium access control 

(“MAC”) protocol as defined in IEEE 802.11.  In accordance with the MAC protocol, the 

controller provides information that controls when wireless devices connected to the 

network are allowed to transmit, thereby causing the communications over the wireless 

network to occur in a half-duplex manner.  

e. The WAP includes a first buffer that holds frames received from the 

Ethernet network via the Ethernet interface and then supplies those frames via the 802.11 

interface to the wireless network. 

f. The WAP includes a second buffer that holds frames received from the 

wireless network via the 802.11 interface and then supplies those frames via the Ethernet 

interface to the Ethernet network. 

25. IWS’s letter further informed Defendant that it was inducing infringement of the 

‘264 Patent by offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and 

encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.  With respect to induced infringement, 
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IWS’s letter informed Defendant that the direct infringers were its guests, customers and end 

users.   

26. Defendant has had actual knowledge of the ‘264 Patent and its infringement of 

that patent since at least the date that Defendant received the April 10, 2013 notice letter from 

IWS. 

27. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant has directly infringed and continues 

to directly infringe, both literally and under the doctrine of equivalents, the ‘264 Patent by 

making, using, offering to sell, and selling the use of wireless networks, including an IEEE 

802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point coupled to an Ethernet network.   

28. Upon information and belief, Defendant has induced and continues to induce 

others to infringe the ‘264 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by, among other things, and with 

specific intent or willful blindness, actively aiding and abetting others to infringe, including, but 

not limited to, the Defendant’s customers and guests whose use of the Defendant’s wireless 

networks constitutes direct infringement of at least claim 5 of the ‘264 Patent.  In particular, the 

Defendant’s actions that aid and abet others such as its customers and guests to infringe include 

offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and encouraging 

others to use that wireless Internet access.  On information and belief, Defendant has engaged in 

such actions with specific intent to cause infringement or with willful blindness to the resulting 

infringement because Defendant has had actual knowledge of the ‘264 Patent and that its acts 

were inducing its customers and guests to infringe the ‘264 Patent since at least the date it 

received the notice letter from IWS notifying Defendant that its wireless networks infringed the 

‘264 Patent.   

29. IWS has been harmed by the Defendant’s infringing activities.  
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30. IWS notified Defendant of its infringement of the ‘264 Patent including an 

identification of the particular infringing product and features, but Defendant thereafter 

continued to infringe the ‘264 Patent by continuing the activities described in Paragraphs 24-25.  

On information and belief, Defendant has not obtained an opinion of counsel regarding the 

claims of ‘264 Patent.  The Defendant’s continued infringement has therefore been in reckless 

disregard of IWS’s patent rights.  On information and belief, the Defendant’s infringement has 

been and continues to be willful. 

COUNT III – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,587,473 

31. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 30 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

32. IWS provided actual notice to Defendant of its infringement of the ‘473 Patent in 

its letter dated April 10, 2013 from IWS to Defendant.  In this letter, IWS informed Defendant 

that it was infringing the ‘473 Patent through the use of its IEEE 802.11 wireless network.  

IWS’s letter further informed Defendant that it was infringing at least claim 40 of the ‘473 Patent 

by performing each of the steps of that claim in at least the following manner:  

a. The WAP in the Defendant’s WiFi network provides communication 

between a CSMA/CD network (an Ethernet network) and a bidirectional communications 

path (an 802.11 wireless network). 

b. The WAP includes an Ethernet interface that contains an Ethernet modem 

that receives information packets from an Ethernet network.  

c. The WAP transmits the information packets over the 802.11 wireless path 

in a direction towards a mobile station. 

d. The WAP includes a controller that implements the medium access control 

(“MAC”) protocol as defined in IEEE 802.11.  In accordance with the MAC protocol, the 
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controller provides information that controls when wireless devices connected to the 

network are allowed to transmit, thereby causing the communications over the wireless 

network to occur in a half-duplex manner.  

e. The WAP receives information corresponding to information packets from 

the 802.11 wireless path at the Ethernet modem and transmits those information packets 

over the Ethernet network. 

33. IWS’s letter further informed Defendant that it was inducing infringement of the 

‘473 Patent by offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and 

encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.  IWS’s letter also informed Defendant 

that it was contributing to infringement of the ‘473 Patent by providing wireless Internet access 

because its wireless network constitutes a material part of the invention, was especially made or 

especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘473 Patent, and has no substantial non-

infringing uses.  The letter explained that the Defendant’s wireless network constitutes a material 

part of the claimed invention at least because it contains the components that interface the 

wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control information to the wireless devices 

as claimed in the ‘473 Patent.  The letter also explained that the Defendant’s wireless network 

was made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘473 Patent and has no 

substantial non-infringing uses at least because it contains components whose only purpose is to 

interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and to provide control information to the 

wireless devices as claimed in the ‘473 Patent.  With respect to both induced infringement and 

contributory infringement, IWS’s letter informed Defendant that the direct infringers were its 

guests, customers and end users.   
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34. Defendant has had actual knowledge of the ‘473 Patent and its infringement of 

that patent since at least the date that Defendant received the April 10, 2013 notice letter from 

IWS. 

35. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant has directly infringed and continues 

to directly infringe, both literally and under the doctrine of equivalents, the ‘473 Patent by using 

wireless networks, including an IEEE 802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access 

point coupled to an Ethernet network.   

36. Upon information and belief, Defendant has induced and continues to induce 

others to infringe the  ‘473 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by, among other things, and with 

specific intent or willful blindness, actively aiding and abetting others to infringe, including, but 

not limited to, the Defendant’s customers and guests whose connection of wireless devices to the 

Defendant’s wireless networks and use of the Defendant’s wireless networks constitutes direct 

infringement of at least claim 40 of the ‘473 Patent.  In particular, the Defendant’s actions that 

aid and abet others such as its customers and guests to infringe include offering wireless Internet 

access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and encouraging others to use that wireless 

Internet access.  On information and belief, Defendant has engaged in such actions with specific 

intent to cause infringement or with willful blindness to the resulting infringement because 

Defendant has had actual knowledge of the ‘473 Patent and that its acts were inducing its 

customers and guests to infringe the ‘473 Patent since at least the date they received the notice 

letter from IWS notifying Defendant that its wireless networks infringed the ‘473 Patent.   

37. Upon information and belief, Defendant has committed and continues to commit 

acts of contributory infringement of the ‘473 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c) by offering to sell 

and selling the use of its wireless networks to others, including its customers and guests, while 
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knowing or willfully blind to the fact that that these products constitute a material part of the 

invention, were especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘473 

Patent, and have no substantial non-infringing uses.  The Defendant’s wireless networks 

constitute a material part of the claimed invention at least because they contain the components 

that interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control information to the 

wireless devices as claimed in the ‘473 Patent.  The Defendant’s wireless networks were 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘473 Patent and have no 

substantial non-infringing uses at least because they contain components whose only purpose is 

to interface the Defendant’s wireless networks to an Ethernet network and to provide control 

information to the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘473  Patent.  Defendant’s customers and 

guests directly infringe at least claim 40 of the ‘473 Patent by connecting its wireless devices to 

the Defendant’s wireless network and using that network.  Defendant has known or remained 

willfully blind to these facts since at least the date it received the notice letter from IWS 

notifying Defendant that the use of its wireless networks infringed the ‘473 Patent. 

38. IWS has been harmed by the Defendant’s infringing activities.  

39. IWS notified Defendant of its infringement of the ‘473 Patent including an 

identification of the particular infringing product and features, but Defendant thereafter 

continued to infringe the ‘473 Patent by continuing the activities described in Paragraphs 32-33 

above.  On information and belief, Defendant has not obtained an opinion of counsel regarding 

the claims of ‘473 Patent.  The Defendant’s continued infringement has therefore been in 

reckless disregard of IWS’s patent rights.  On information and belief, the Defendant’s 

infringement has been and continues to be willful. 

JURY DEMAND 

40. IWS demands a jury trial on all issues and claims so triable. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, IWS prays for judgment as follows:   

a. An adjudication that Defendant has infringed one of more claims of each of the 

patents-in-suit;  

b. An award of damages to be paid by Defendant adequate to compensate IWS for 

past infringement of the patents-in-suit, and any continuing or future infringement through the 

date such judgment is entered, including interest, costs, expenses and an accounting of all 

infringing acts including, but not limited to, those acts not presented at trial; 

c. An order that Defendant must pay an ongoing royalty in an amount to be 

determined for any continued infringement after the date judgment is entered;   

d. An award of treble damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

e. A declaration finding this to be an exceptional case, and awarding IWS attorney 

fees under 35 U.S.C. §285; and 

f. For such further relief at law and in equity as the Court may deem just and proper. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

Dated:  April 24, 2013 
 

 GILLAM & SMITH, L.L.P. 

/s/ Melissa Richards Smith  
Melissa Richards Smith 
SBN 24001351 
E-mail: melissa@gillamsmithlaw.com 
Harry L. Gillam, Jr. 
SBN 07921800 
Email: gil@gillamsmithlaw.com 
William R. Lamb 
SBN 24080997 
Email: wrlamb@gillamsmithlaw.com 
303 South Washington Avenue  
Marshall, Texas 75670  
Phone: (903) 934-8450 
Facsimile: (903) 934-9257 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

MARSHALL DIVISION 

 

INNOVATIVE WIRELESS  §              
SOLUTIONS, LLC, §             Civil Case No.  
   § 
  Plaintiff, § 
   §  
 v.  §             JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
   § 
LA QUINTA INN WORLDWIDE, LLC, AND § 
LQ MANAGEMENT, LLC § 
   § 
  Defendants. § 

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

Plaintiff Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC, by way of its Complaint for Patent 

Infringement (“Complaint”) against Defendants La Quinta Inn Worldwide, LLC and LQ 

Management LLC, alleges as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the 

United States, 35 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. 

  THE PARTIES 

2. Plaintiff Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC (“IWS”) is a Texas limited liability 

company with a place of business at 555 Republic Drive, Suite 200, Plano, Texas 75074. 

3. Defendant La Quinta Worldwide, LLC (“La Quinta”) is a corporation organized 

under the laws of the State of Delaware.  On information and belief La Quinta has a place of 

business at 909 Hidden Ridge Ste. 600, Irving, Texas 75038.  On information and belief, 

Defendant La Quinta owns and operates multiple lodging facilities within this District. 
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4. Defendant LQ Management LLC (“LQ Management”) is a limited liability 

company organized under the laws of the State of Delaware.  On information and belief LQ 

Management has a place of business at 909 Hidden Ridge Ste. 600, Irving, Texas 75038.  On 

information and belief, Defendant LQ Management owns and operates multiple lodging facilities 

within this District. 

5. La Quinta and LQ Management will be referred to collectively herein as 

“Defendants.” 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the Patent Laws of the 

United States, Title 35 of the United States Code. 

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338. 

8. On information and belief, the Defendants are subject to the jurisdiction of this 

Court by reason of their acts of patent infringement which have been committed in this Judicial 

District, and by virtue of their regularly conducted and systematic business contacts in this State.  

Further, Defendants have operated infringing wireless networks in the forum which are at least 

used in and/or accessible at Defendants’ locations in this forum.  On information and belief, the 

Defendants are subject to this Court’s specific and general personal jurisdiction, pursuant to due 

process and/or the Texas Long Arm Statute, due at least to their substantial business in this 

forum, including business related to the infringements alleged herein.  Further, on information 

and belief, Defendants are subject to the Court’s general jurisdiction as a result of their activities 

in the forum, including, regularly doing or soliciting business, engaging in other persistent 

courses of conduct, and/or deriving substantial revenue from goods and services provided to 

persons or entities in Texas.  As such, the Defendants have purposefully availed themselves of 

the privilege of conducting business within this Judicial District; have established sufficient 
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minimum contacts with this Judicial District such that they should reasonably and fairly 

anticipate being haled into court in this Judicial District; have purposefully directed activities at 

residents of this State; and at least a portion of the patent infringement claims alleged herein arise 

out of or are related to one or more of the foregoing activities. 

9. Venue is proper in this Judicial District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(c) and 1400(b). 

THE PATENTS-IN-SUIT 

10. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 9 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

11. On June 15, 1999, U.S. Patent Number 5,912,895 (the “‘895 Patent”), entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines,” was duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  

A true and correct copy of the ‘895 Patent is attached as Exhibit A to this Complaint. 

12. On December 4, 2001, U.S. Patent Number 6,327,264 (the “‘264 Patent”), entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines,” was duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  

A true and correct copy of the ‘264 Patent is attached as Exhibit B to this Complaint. 

13. On July 1, 2003, U.S. Patent Number 6,587,473 (the “‘473 Patent”), entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines,” was duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  

A true and correct copy of the ‘473 Patent is attached as Exhibit C to this Complaint. 

14. IWS is the assignee and owner of the right, title and interest in and to the ‘895, 

‘264 and ‘473 Patents (henceforth collectively the “patents-in-suit”) including the right to assert 

all causes of action arising under said patents and the right to any remedies for infringement.  
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JOINDER 

15. Joinder is proper under 35 U.S.C. § 299.  The allegations of infringement 

contained herein are asserted against the Defendants jointly, severally, or in the alternative and 

arise, at least in part, out of the same series of transactions and occurrences relating to the 

making, using, offering for sale, and selling of the same accused product and processes.  In 

particular, on information and belief, the Defendants are consecutive or joint owners or operators 

of one of more lodging properties in this District, and therefore the allegations of infringement 

contained herein arise, at least in part, out of the Defendants’ activities with respect to the same 

wireless networks at those lodging properties in this District.  Questions of fact common to the 

Defendants will arise in the action, including questions relating to the ownership and 

management of the Defendants’ wireless networks, the structure and operation of the 

Defendants’ wireless networks, and validity of the patents-in-suit. 

 

COUNT I – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 5,912,895 

16. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 15 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

17. IWS provided actual notice to the Defendants of their infringement of the ‘895 

Patent in letters dated April 10, 2013 from IWS to the Defendants.  In those letters, IWS 

informed the Defendants that they were infringing the ‘895 Patent by making, using, offering to 

sell, and selling the use of an IEEE 802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point 

(“WAP”) connected to an Ethernet network (collectively, “wireless Internet access”).  IWS’s 

letters further informed the Defendants that their wireless network satisfied all of limitations of at 

least claim 48 of the ‘895 patent in at least the following manner:  
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a. The WAP in the Defendants’ WiFi network provides communication with 

a CSMA/CD network (an Ethernet network) via a bidirectional communications path (an 

802.11 wireless path). 

b. The WAP is located at a first end of the 802.11 wireless path and includes 

an Ethernet interface to an Ethernet network.  Ethernet is a CSMA/CD technology.  The 

WAP includes a buffer for buffering information packets received from the Ethernet 

network via the Ethernet interface for supply to the 802.11 wireless path.  The WAP also 

includes a buffer for buffering information packets received from the 802.11 wireless 

path for supply to the Ethernet network via the Ethernet interface.  The WAP also 

includes a controller that implements the medium access control (“MAC”) protocol as 

defined in IEEE 802.11.  

c. A wireless station is connected at a second end of the 802.11 wireless 

path.  The wireless station includes a buffer for buffering information packets received 

from the 802.11 wireless path, a buffer for buffering information packets to be supplied 

to the 802.11 wireless path, and a MAC controller.   

d. The MAC controller in the WAP and the MAC controller in the wireless 

station are arranged to exchange control information over the 802.11 wireless path so as 

to allow information packets to be communicated bi-directionally over the 802.11 

wireless path between the buffers of the WAP and the wireless station in a half-duplex 

manner. 

18. IWS’s letters further informed the Defendants that they were inducing 

infringement of the ‘895 Patent by offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless 

Internet access, and encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.   IWS’s letters also 
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informed the Defendants that they were contributing to infringement of the ‘895 Patent by 

providing wireless Internet access  because their wireless network constitutes a material part of 

the invention, was especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘895 

Patent, and has no substantial non-infringing uses.  The letters explained that the Defendants’ 

wireless network constitutes a material part of the claimed invention at least because it contains 

the components that interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control 

information to the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  The letters also explained that 

the Defendants’ wireless network was made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of 

the ‘895 Patent and has no substantial non-infringing uses at least because it contains 

components whose only purpose is to interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and 

to provide control information to the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  With 

respect to both induced infringement and contributory infringement, IWS’s letters informed the 

Defendants that the direct infringers were their guests, customers and end users.   

19. The Defendants have had actual knowledge of the ‘895 Patent and their 

infringement of that patent since at least the date that the Defendants received the April 10, 2013 

notice letters from IWS. 

20. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), the Defendants have directly infringed and 

continue to directly infringe, both literally and under the doctrine of equivalents, the ‘895 Patent 

by making, using, offering to sell, and selling the use of wireless networks, including an IEEE 

802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point coupled to an Ethernet network.   

21. Upon information and belief, the Defendants have induced and continue to induce 

others to infringe the ‘895 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by, among other things, and with 

specific intent or willful blindness, actively aiding and abetting others to infringe, including, but 
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not limited to, the Defendants’ customers and guests whose connection of wireless devices to the 

Defendants’ wireless networks and use of the Defendants’ wireless networks constitutes direct 

infringement of at least claim 48 of the ‘895 Patent.  In particular, the Defendants’ actions that 

aid and abet others such as their customers and guests to infringe include offering wireless 

Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and encouraging others to use that 

wireless Internet access.  On information and belief, the Defendants have engaged in such 

actions with specific intent to cause infringement or with willful blindness to the resulting 

infringement because the Defendants have had actual knowledge of the ‘895 Patent and that their 

acts were inducing their customers and guests to infringe the ‘895 Patent since at least the date 

they received the notice letters from IWS notifying the Defendants that their wireless networks 

infringed the ‘895 Patent.   

22. Upon information and belief, the Defendants have committed and continue to 

commit acts of contributory infringement of the ‘895 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c) by offering 

to sell and selling the use of their wireless networks to others, including their customers and 

guests, while knowing or willfully blind to the fact that that these products constitute a material 

part of the invention, were especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of 

the ‘895 Patent, and have no substantial non-infringing uses.  The Defendants’ wireless networks 

constitute a material part of the invention at least because they contain the components that 

interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control information to the 

wireless devices as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  The Defendants’ wireless networks were 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘895 Patent and have no 

substantial non-infringing uses at least because they contain components whose only purpose is 

to interface the Defendants’ wireless networks to an Ethernet network and to provide control 
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information to the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  The Defendant’s customers 

and guests directly infringe at least claim 48 of the ‘895 Patent by connecting their wireless 

device to the Defendants’ wireless networks.   The Defendants have known or remained willfully 

blind to these facts since at least the date they received the notice letter from IWS notifying the 

Defendants that the use of their wireless networks infringed the ‘895 Patent. 

23. IWS has been harmed by the Defendants’ infringing activities.  

24. IWS notified Defendants of their infringement of the ‘895 Patent including an 

identification of the particular infringing product and features, but the Defendants thereafter 

continued to infringe the ‘895 Patent by continuing the activities described in Paragraph 17-18.  

On information and belief, Defendants have not obtained an opinion of counsel regarding the 

claims of ‘895 Patent.  The Defendants’ continued infringement has therefore been in reckless 

disregard of IWS’s patent rights.  On information and belief, the Defendants’ infringement has 

been and continues to be willful. 

COUNT II – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,327,264 

25. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 24 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

26. IWS provided actual notice to the Defendants of their infringement of the ‘264 

Patent in letters dated April 10, 2013 from IWS to the Defendants.  In those letters, IWS 

informed the Defendants that they were infringing the ‘264 Patent by making, using, offering to 

sell, and selling the use of an IEEE 802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point 

connected to an Ethernet network.  IWS’s letters further informed the Defendants that their 

wireless network satisfied all of limitations of at least claim 5 of the ‘264 patent in at least the 

following manner:  
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a. The WAP in the Defendants’ WiFi network allows wireless devices to 

connect to a network. 

b. The WAP includes an Ethernet interface for coupling to an Ethernet 

network.  Ethernet is a CSMA/CD technology. 

c. The WAP includes an 802.11 interface for coupling to the 802.11 wireless 

network which provides a wireless bidirectional communications path.   

d. The WAP includes a controller that implements the medium access control 

(“MAC”) protocol as defined in IEEE 802.11.  In accordance with the MAC protocol, the 

controller provides information that controls when wireless devices connected to the 

network are allowed to transmit, thereby causing the communications over the wireless 

network to occur in a half-duplex manner.  

e. The WAP includes a first buffer that holds frames received from the 

Ethernet network via the Ethernet interface and then supplies those frames via the 802.11 

interface to the wireless network. 

f. The WAP includes a second buffer that holds frames received from the 

wireless network via the 802.11 interface and then supplies those frames via the Ethernet 

interface to the Ethernet network. 

27. IWS’s letters further informed the Defendants that they were inducing 

infringement of the ‘264 Patent by offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless 

Internet access, and encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.   With respect to 

induced infringement, IWS’s letters informed the Defendants that the direct infringers were their 

guests, customers and end users.   
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28. The Defendants have had actual knowledge of the ‘264 Patent and their 

infringement of that patent since at least the date that the Defendants received the April 10, 2013 

notice letters from IWS. 

29. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), the Defendants have directly infringed and 

continue to directly infringe, both literally and under the doctrine of equivalents, the ‘264 Patent 

by making, using, offering to sell, and selling the use of wireless networks, including an IEEE 

802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point coupled to an Ethernet network.   

30. Upon information and belief, the Defendants have induced and continue to induce 

others to infringe the ‘264 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by, among other things, and with 

specific intent or willful blindness, actively aiding and abetting others to infringe, including, but 

not limited to, the Defendants’ customers and guests whose use of the Defendants’ wireless 

networks constitutes direct infringement of at least claim 5 of the ‘264 Patent.  In particular, the 

Defendants’ actions that aid and abet others such as their customers and guests to infringe 

include offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and 

encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.  On information and belief, the 

Defendants have engaged in such actions with specific intent to cause infringement or with 

willful blindness to the resulting infringement because the Defendants have had actual 

knowledge of the ‘264 Patent and that their acts were inducing their customers and guests to 

infringe the ‘264 Patent since at least the date they received the notice letters from IWS notifying 

the Defendants that their wireless networks infringed the ‘264 Patent.   

31. IWS has been harmed by the Defendants’ infringing activities.  

32. IWS notified Defendants of their infringement of the ‘264 Patent including an 

identification of the particular infringing product and features, but the Defendants thereafter 
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continued to infringe the ‘264 Patent by continuing the activities described in Paragraph 26-27.  

On information and belief, Defendants have not obtained an opinion of counsel regarding the 

claims of ‘264 Patent.  The Defendants’ continued infringement has therefore been in reckless 

disregard of IWS’s patent rights.  On information and belief, the Defendants’ infringement has 

been and continues to be willful. 

COUNT III – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,587,473 

33. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 32 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

34. IWS provided actual notice to the Defendants of their infringement of the ‘473 

Patent in its letters dated April 10, 2013 from IWS to the Defendants.  In those letters, IWS 

informed the Defendants that they were infringing the ‘473 Patent through the use of their IEEE 

802.11 wireless network.  IWS’s letters further informed the Defendants that they were 

infringing at least claim 40 of the ‘473 Patent by performing each of the steps of that claim in at 

least the following manner:  

a. The WAP in the Defendants’ WiFi network provides communication 

between a CSMA/CD network (an Ethernet network) and a bidirectional communications 

path (an 802.11 wireless network). 

b. The WAP includes an Ethernet interface that contains an Ethernet modem 

that receives information packets from an Ethernet network.  

c. The WAP transmits the information packets over the 802.11 wireless path 

in a direction towards a mobile station. 

d. The WAP includes a controller that implements the medium access control 

(“MAC”) protocol as defined in IEEE 802.11.  In accordance with the MAC protocol, the 

controller provides information that controls when wireless devices connected to the 
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network are allowed to transmit, thereby causing the communications over the wireless 

network to occur in a half-duplex manner.  

e. The WAP receives information corresponding to information packets from 

the 802.11 wireless path at the Ethernet modem and transmits those information packets 

over the Ethernet network. 

35. IWS’s letters further informed the Defendants that they were inducing 

infringement of the ‘473 Patent by offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless 

Internet access, and encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.  IWS’s letters also 

informed the Defendants that they were contributing to infringement of the ‘473 Patent by 

providing wireless Internet access because their wireless network constitutes a material part of 

the invention, was especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘473 

Patent, and has no substantial non-infringing uses.  The letters explained that the Defendants’ 

wireless network constitutes a material part of the claimed invention at least because it contains 

the components that interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control 

information to the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘473 Patent.  The letters also explained that 

the Defendants’ wireless network was made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of 

the ‘473 Patent and has no substantial non-infringing uses at least because it contains 

components whose only purpose is to interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and 

to provide control information to the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘473 Patent.  With 

respect to both induced infringement and contributory infringement, IWS’s letters informed the 

Defendants that the direct infringers were their guests, customers and end users.   
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36. The Defendants have had actual knowledge of the ‘473  Patent and their 

infringement of that patent since at least the date that the Defendants received the April 10, 2013 

notice letters from IWS. 

37. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), the Defendants have directly infringed and 

continue to directly infringe, both literally and under the doctrine of equivalents, the ‘473 Patent 

by using wireless networks, including an IEEE 802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless 

access point coupled to an Ethernet network.   

38. Upon information and belief, the Defendants have induced and continue to induce 

others to infringe the  ‘473 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by, among other things, and with 

specific intent or willful blindness, actively aiding and abetting others to infringe, including, but 

not limited to, the Defendants’ customers and guests whose connection of wireless devices to the 

Defendants’ wireless networks and use of the Defendants’ wireless networks constitutes direct 

infringement of at least claim 40 of the ‘473 Patent.  In particular, the Defendants’ actions that 

aid and abet others such as their customers and guests to infringe include offering wireless 

Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and encouraging others to use that 

wireless Internet access.  On information and belief, the Defendants have engaged in such 

actions with specific intent to cause infringement or with willful blindness to the resulting 

infringement because the Defendants have had actual knowledge of the ‘473 Patent and that their 

acts were inducing their customers and guests to infringe the ‘473 Patent since at least the date 

they received the notice letters from IWS notifying the Defendants that their wireless networks 

infringed the ‘473 Patent.   

39. Upon information and belief, the Defendants have committed and continue to 

commit acts of contributory infringement of the ‘473 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c) by offering 
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to sell and selling the use of their wireless networks to others, including their customers and 

guests, while knowing or willfully blind to the fact that that these products constitute a material 

part of the invention, were especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of 

the ‘473 Patent, and have no substantial non-infringing uses.  The Defendants’ wireless networks 

constitute a material part of the claimed invention at least because they contain the components 

that interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control information to the 

wireless devices as claimed in the ‘473 Patent.  The Defendants’ wireless networks were 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘473 Patent and have no 

substantial non-infringing uses at least because they contain components whose only purpose is 

to interface the Defendants’ wireless networks to an Ethernet network and to provide control 

information to the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘473  Patent.  The Defendant’s customers 

and guests directly infringe at least claim 40 of the ‘473 Patent by connecting their wireless 

devices to the Defendants’ wireless network and using that network.   The Defendants have 

known or remained willfully blind to these facts since at least the date they received the notice 

letter from IWS notifying the Defendants that the use of their wireless networks infringed the 

‘473 Patent. 

40. IWS has been harmed by the Defendants’ infringing activities.  

41. IWS notified Defendants of their infringement of the ‘473 Patent including an 

identification of the particular infringing product and features, but the Defendants thereafter 

continued to infringe the ‘473 Patent by continuing the activities described in Paragraph 34-35 

above.  On information and belief, Defendants have not obtained an opinion of counsel regarding 

the claims of ‘473 Patent.  The Defendants’ continued infringement has therefore been in 
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reckless disregard of IWS’s patent rights.  On information and belief, the Defendants’ 

infringement has been and continues to be willful. 

JURY DEMAND 

42. IWS demands a jury trial on all issues and claims so triable. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, IWS prays for judgment as follows:   

a. An adjudication that Defendants have infringed one of more claims of each of the 

patents-in-suit;  

b. An award of damages to be paid by the Defendants adequate to compensate IWS 

for past infringement of the patents-in-suit, and any continuing or future infringement through 

the date such judgment is entered, including interest, costs, expenses and an accounting of all 

infringing acts including, but not limited to, those acts not presented at trial; 

c. An order that Defendants must pay an ongoing royalty in an amount to be 

determined for any continued infringement after the date judgment is entered;   

d. An award of treble damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

e. A declaration finding this to be an exceptional case, and awarding IWS attorney 

fees under 35 U.S.C. §285; and 

f. For such further relief at law and in equity as the Court may deem just and proper. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

Dated:  April 24, 2013 
 

 GILLAM & SMITH, L.L.P. 

/s/ Melissa Richards Smith  
Melissa Richards Smith 
SBN 24001351 
E-mail: melissa@gillamsmithlaw.com 
Harry L. Gillam, Jr. 
SBN 07921800 
Email: gil@gillamsmithlaw.com 
William R. Lamb 
SBN 24080997 
Email: wrlamb@gillamsmithlaw.com 
303 South Washington Avenue  
Marshall, Texas 75670  
Phone: (903) 934-8450 
Facsimile: (903) 934-9257 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

MARSHALL DIVISION 

 

INNOVATIVE WIRELESS  §              
SOLUTIONS, LLC, §             Civil Case No.  
   § 
  Plaintiff, § 
   §  
 v.  §             JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
   § 
STARBUCKS CORPORATION,   § 
    § 
   § 
   § 
  Defendant. § 

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

Plaintiff Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC, by way of its Complaint for Patent 

Infringement (“Complaint”) against Defendant Starbucks Corporation, alleges as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the 

United States, 35 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. 

  THE PARTIES 

2. Plaintiff Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC (“IWS”) is a Texas limited liability 

company with a place of business at 555 Republic Drive, Suite 200, Plano, Texas 75074. 

3. On information and belief, Defendant Starbucks Corporation is a corporation 

organized under the laws of the State of Washington with a principal place of business at 2401 

Utah Avenue South, Seattle, Washington 98143.  On information and belief, Defendant 

Starbucks owns and operates restaurants at multiple locations within this District. 

4. Starbucks Corporation will be referred to herein as “Starbucks” or “Defendant.” 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the Patent Laws of the 

United States, Title 35 of the United States Code. 

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338. 

7. On information and belief, Defendant is subject to the jurisdiction of this Court by 

reason of its acts of patent infringement which have been committed in this Judicial District, and 

by virtue of its regularly conducted and systematic business contacts in this State.  Further, 

Defendant has operated infringing wireless networks in the forum which are at least used in 

and/or accessible at Defendant’s locations in this forum.  On information and belief, Defendant is 

subject to this Court’s specific and general personal jurisdiction, pursuant to due process and/or 

the Texas Long Arm Statute, due at least to its substantial business in this forum, including 

business related to the infringements alleged herein.  Further, on information and belief, 

Defendant is subject to the Court’s general jurisdiction as a result of its activities in the forum, 

including, regularly doing or soliciting business, engaging in other persistent courses of conduct, 

and/or deriving substantial revenue from goods and services provided to persons or entities in 

Texas.  As such, Defendant has purposefully availed itself of the privilege of conducting 

business within this Judicial District; has established sufficient minimum contacts with this 

Judicial District such that it should reasonably and fairly anticipate being haled into court in this 

Judicial District; has purposefully directed activities at residents of this State; and at least a 

portion of the patent infringement claims alleged herein arise out of or are related to one or more 

of the foregoing activities. 

8. Venue is proper in this Judicial District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(c) and 1400(b). 
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THE PATENTS-IN-SUIT 

9. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 8 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

10. On June 15, 1999, U.S. Patent Number 5,912,895 (the “‘895 Patent”), entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines,” was duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  

A true and correct copy of the ‘895 Patent is attached as Exhibit A to this Complaint. 

11. On December 4, 2001, U.S. Patent Number 6,327,264 (the “‘264 Patent”), entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines,” was duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  

A true and correct copy of the ‘264 Patent is attached as Exhibit B to this Complaint. 

12. On July 1, 2003, U.S. Patent Number 6,587,473 (the “‘473 Patent”), entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines,” was duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  

A true and correct copy of the ‘473 Patent is attached as Exhibit C to this Complaint. 

13. IWS is the assignee and owner of the right, title and interest in and to the ‘895, 

‘264 and ‘473 Patents (henceforth collectively the “patents-in-suit”) including the right to assert 

all causes of action arising under said patents and the right to any remedies for infringement.  

COUNT I – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 5,912,895 

14. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 13 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

15. IWS provided actual notice to Defendant of its infringement of the ‘895 Patent in 

its letter dated April 10, 2013 from IWS to Defendant.  In this letter, IWS informed Defendant 

that it was infringing the ‘895 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, and selling the use of an 
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IEEE 802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point (“WAP”) connected to an 

Ethernet network (collectively, “wireless Internet access”).  IWS’s letter further informed 

Defendant that its wireless network satisfied all of the limitations of at least claim 48 of the ‘895 

patent in at least the following manner:  

a. The WAP in the Defendant’s WiFi network provides communication with 

a CSMA/CD network (an Ethernet network) via a bidirectional communications path (an 

802.11 wireless path). 

b. The WAP is located at a first end of the 802.11 wireless path and includes 

an Ethernet interface to an Ethernet network.  Ethernet is a CSMA/CD technology.  The 

WAP includes a buffer for buffering information packets received from the Ethernet 

network via the Ethernet interface for supply to the 802.11 wireless path.  The WAP also 

includes a buffer for buffering information packets received from the 802.11 wireless 

path for supply to the Ethernet network via the Ethernet interface.  The WAP also 

includes a controller that implements the medium access control (“MAC”) protocol as 

defined in IEEE 802.11.  

c. A wireless station is connected at a second end of the 802.11 wireless 

path.  The wireless station includes a buffer for buffering information packets received 

from the 802.11 wireless path, a buffer for buffering information packets to be supplied 

to the 802.11 wireless path, and a MAC controller.   

d. The MAC controller in the WAP and the MAC controller in the wireless 

station are arranged to exchange control information over the 802.11 wireless path so as 

to allow information packets to be communicated bi-directionally over the 802.11 
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wireless path between the buffers of the WAP and the wireless station in a half-duplex 

manner. 

16. IWS’s letter further informed Defendant that it was inducing infringement of the 

‘895 Patent by offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and 

encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.  IWS’s letter also informed Defendant 

that it was contributing to infringement of the ‘895 Patent by providing wireless Internet access 

because its wireless network constitutes a material part of the invention, was especially made or 

especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘895 Patent, and has no substantial non-

infringing uses.  The letter explained that the Defendant’s wireless network constitutes a material 

part of the claimed invention at least because it contains the components that interface the 

wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control information to the wireless devices 

as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  The letter also explained that the Defendant’s wireless network 

was made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘895 Patent and has no 

substantial non-infringing uses at least because it contains components whose only purpose is to 

interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and to provide control information to the 

wireless devices as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  With respect to both induced infringement and 

contributory infringement, IWS’s letter informed Defendant that the direct infringers were its 

guests, customers and end users.   

17. Defendant has had actual knowledge of the ‘895 Patent and its infringement of 

that patent since at least the date that Defendant received the April 10, 2013 notice letter from 

IWS. 

18. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant has directly infringed and continues 

to directly infringe, both literally and under the doctrine of equivalents, the ‘895 Patent by 
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making, using, offering to sell, and selling the use of wireless networks, including an IEEE 

802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point coupled to an Ethernet network.   

19. Upon information and belief, Defendant has induced and continues to induce 

others to infringe the ‘895 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by, among other things, and with 

specific intent or willful blindness, actively aiding and abetting others to infringe, including, but 

not limited to, the Defendant’s customers whose connection of wireless devices to the 

Defendant’s wireless networks and use of the Defendant’s wireless networks constitutes direct 

infringement of at least claim 48 of the ‘895 Patent.  In particular, the Defendant’s actions that 

aid and abet others such as its customers to infringe include offering wireless Internet access, 

advertising that wireless Internet access, and encouraging others to use that wireless Internet 

access.  On information and belief, Defendant has engaged in such actions with specific intent to 

cause infringement or with willful blindness to the resulting infringement because Defendant has 

had actual knowledge of the ‘895 Patent and that its acts were inducing its customers to infringe 

the ‘895 Patent since at least the date they received the notice letter from IWS notifying 

Defendant that its wireless networks infringed the ‘895 Patent.   

20. Upon information and belief, Defendant has committed and continues to commit 

acts of contributory infringement of the ‘895 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c) by offering to sell 

and selling the use of its wireless networks to others, including its customers, while knowing or 

willfully blind to the fact that that these products constitute a material part of the invention, were 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘895 Patent, and have no 

substantial non-infringing uses.  The Defendant’s wireless networks constitute a material part of 

the invention at least because they contain the components that interface the wireless network to 

an Ethernet network and provide control information to the wireless devices as claimed in the 
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‘895 Patent.  Defendant’s wireless networks were especially made or especially adapted for use 

in an infringement of the ‘895 Patent and have no substantial non-infringing uses at least because 

they contain components whose only purpose is to interface the Defendant’s wireless networks 

to an Ethernet network and to provide control information to the wireless devices as claimed in 

the ‘895 Patent.  Defendant’s customers directly infringe at least claim 48 of the ‘895 Patent by 

connecting its wireless device to the Defendant’s wireless networks.  Defendant has known or 

remained willfully blind to these facts since at least the date it received the notice letter from 

IWS notifying Defendant that the use of its wireless networks infringed the ‘895 Patent. 

21. IWS has been harmed by the Defendant’s infringing activities.  

22. IWS notified Defendant of its infringement of the ‘895 Patent including an 

identification of the particular infringing product and features, but Defendant thereafter 

continued to infringe the ‘895 Patent by continuing the activities described in Paragraph 15-16.  

On information and belief, Defendant has not obtained an opinion of counsel regarding the 

claims of ‘895 Patent.  The Defendant’s continued infringement has therefore been in reckless 

disregard of IWS’s patent rights.  On information and belief, the Defendant’s infringement has 

been and continues to be willful. 

COUNT II – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,327,264 

23. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 22 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

24. IWS provided actual notice to Defendant of its infringement of the ‘264 Patent in 

its letter dated April 10, 2013 from IWS to Defendant.  In this letter, IWS informed Defendant 

that it was infringing the ‘264 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, and selling the use of an 

IEEE 802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point connected to an Ethernet 
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network.  IWS’s letter further informed Defendant that its wireless network satisfied all of the 

limitations of at least claim 5 of the ‘264 patent in at least the following manner:  

a. The WAP in the Defendant’s WiFi network allows wireless devices to 

connect to a network. 

b. The WAP includes an Ethernet interface for coupling to an Ethernet 

network.  Ethernet is a CSMA/CD technology. 

c. The WAP includes an 802.11 interface for coupling to the 802.11 wireless 

network which provides a wireless bidirectional communications path.   

d. The WAP includes a controller that implements the medium access control 

(“MAC”) protocol as defined in IEEE 802.11.  In accordance with the MAC protocol, the 

controller provides information that controls when wireless devices connected to the 

network are allowed to transmit, thereby causing the communications over the wireless 

network to occur in a half-duplex manner.  

e. The WAP includes a first buffer that holds frames received from the 

Ethernet network via the Ethernet interface and then supplies those frames via the 802.11 

interface to the wireless network. 

f. The WAP includes a second buffer that holds frames received from the 

wireless network via the 802.11 interface and then supplies those frames via the Ethernet 

interface to the Ethernet network. 

25. IWS’s letter further informed Defendant that it was inducing infringement of the 

‘264 Patent by offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and 

encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.  With respect to induced infringement, 
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IWS’s letter informed Defendant that the direct infringers were its guests, customers and end 

users.   

26. Defendant has had actual knowledge of the ‘264 Patent and its infringement of 

that patent since at least the date that Defendant received the April 10, 2013 notice letter from 

IWS. 

27. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant has directly infringed and continues 

to directly infringe, both literally and under the doctrine of equivalents, the ‘264 Patent by 

making, using, offering to sell, and selling the use of wireless networks, including an IEEE 

802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point coupled to an Ethernet network.   

28. Upon information and belief, Defendant has induced and continues to induce 

others to infringe the ‘264 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by, among other things, and with 

specific intent or willful blindness, actively aiding and abetting others to infringe, including, but 

not limited to, the Defendant’s customers whose use of the Defendant’s wireless networks 

constitutes direct infringement of at least claim 5 of the ‘264 Patent.  In particular, the 

Defendant’s actions that aid and abet others such as its customers to infringe include offering 

wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and encouraging others to use 

that wireless Internet access.  On information and belief, Defendant has engaged in such actions 

with specific intent to cause infringement or with willful blindness to the resulting infringement 

because Defendant has had actual knowledge of the ‘264 Patent and that its acts were inducing 

its customers to infringe the ‘264 Patent since at least the date it received the notice letter from 

IWS notifying Defendant that its wireless networks infringed the ‘264 Patent.   

29. IWS has been harmed by the Defendant’s infringing activities.  

Case 2:13-cv-00309-JRG   Document 1    Filed 04/24/13   Page 9 of 15 PageID #:  9Case 1:13-cv-00504-LY   Document 1-10   Filed 06/14/13   Page 10 of 16



10 
 

30. IWS notified Defendant of its infringement of the ‘264 Patent including an 

identification of the particular infringing product and features, but Defendant thereafter 

continued to infringe the ‘264 Patent by continuing the activities described in Paragraphs 24-25.  

On information and belief, Defendant has not obtained an opinion of counsel regarding the 

claims of ‘264 Patent.  The Defendant’s continued infringement has therefore been in reckless 

disregard of IWS’s patent rights.  On information and belief, the Defendant’s infringement has 

been and continues to be willful. 

COUNT III – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,587,473 

31. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 30 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

32. IWS provided actual notice to Defendant of its infringement of the ‘473 Patent in 

its letter dated April 10, 2013 from IWS to Defendant.  In this letter, IWS informed Defendant 

that it was infringing the ‘473 Patent through the use of its IEEE 802.11 wireless network.  

IWS’s letter further informed Defendant that it was infringing at least claim 40 of the ‘473 Patent 

by performing each of the steps of that claim in at least the following manner:  

a. The WAP in the Defendant’s WiFi network provides communication 

between a CSMA/CD network (an Ethernet network) and a bidirectional communications 

path (an 802.11 wireless network). 

b. The WAP includes an Ethernet interface that contains an Ethernet modem 

that receives information packets from an Ethernet network.  

c. The WAP transmits the information packets over the 802.11 wireless path 

in a direction towards a mobile station. 

d. The WAP includes a controller that implements the medium access control 

(“MAC”) protocol as defined in IEEE 802.11.  In accordance with the MAC protocol, the 

Case 2:13-cv-00309-JRG   Document 1    Filed 04/24/13   Page 10 of 15 PageID #:  10Case 1:13-cv-00504-LY   Document 1-10   Filed 06/14/13   Page 11 of 16



11 
 

controller provides information that controls when wireless devices connected to the 

network are allowed to transmit, thereby causing the communications over the wireless 

network to occur in a half-duplex manner.  

e. The WAP receives information corresponding to information packets from 

the 802.11 wireless path at the Ethernet modem and transmits those information packets 

over the Ethernet network. 

33. IWS’s letter further informed Defendant that it was inducing infringement of the 

‘473 Patent by offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and 

encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.  IWS’s letter also informed Defendant 

that it was contributing to infringement of the ‘473 Patent by providing wireless Internet access 

because its wireless network constitutes a material part of the invention, was especially made or 

especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘473 Patent, and has no substantial non-

infringing uses.  The letter explained that the Defendant’s wireless network constitutes a material 

part of the claimed invention at least because it contains the components that interface the 

wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control information to the wireless devices 

as claimed in the ‘473 Patent.  The letter also explained that the Defendant’s wireless network 

was made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘473 Patent and has no 

substantial non-infringing uses at least because it contains components whose only purpose is to 

interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and to provide control information to the 

wireless devices as claimed in the ‘473 Patent.  With respect to both induced infringement and 

contributory infringement, IWS’s letter informed Defendant that the direct infringers were its 

guests, customers and end users.   
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34. Defendant has had actual knowledge of the ‘473 Patent and its infringement of 

that patent since at least the date that Defendant received the April 10, 2013 notice letter from 

IWS. 

35. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant has directly infringed and continues 

to directly infringe, both literally and under the doctrine of equivalents, the ‘473 Patent by using 

wireless networks, including an IEEE 802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access 

point coupled to an Ethernet network.   

36. Upon information and belief, Defendant has induced and continues to induce 

others to infringe the  ‘473 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by, among other things, and with 

specific intent or willful blindness, actively aiding and abetting others to infringe, including, but 

not limited to, the Defendant’s customers whose connection of wireless devices to the 

Defendant’s wireless networks and use of the Defendant’s wireless networks constitutes direct 

infringement of at least claim 40 of the ‘473 Patent.  In particular, the Defendant’s actions that 

aid and abet others such as its customers to infringe include offering wireless Internet access, 

advertising that wireless Internet access, and encouraging others to use that wireless Internet 

access.  On information and belief, Defendant has engaged in such actions with specific intent to 

cause infringement or with willful blindness to the resulting infringement because Defendant has 

had actual knowledge of the ‘473 Patent and that its acts were inducing its customers to infringe 

the ‘473 Patent since at least the date they received the notice letter from IWS notifying 

Defendant that its wireless networks infringed the ‘473 Patent.   

37. Upon information and belief, Defendant has committed and continues to commit 

acts of contributory infringement of the ‘473 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c) by offering to sell 

and selling the use of its wireless networks to others, including its customers, while knowing or 
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willfully blind to the fact that that these products constitute a material part of the invention, were 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘473 Patent, and have no 

substantial non-infringing uses.  The Defendant’s wireless networks constitute a material part of 

the claimed invention at least because they contain the components that interface the wireless 

network to an Ethernet network and provide control information to the wireless devices as 

claimed in the ‘473 Patent.  The Defendant’s wireless networks were especially made or 

especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘473 Patent and have no substantial non-

infringing uses at least because they contain components whose only purpose is to interface the 

Defendant’s wireless networks to an Ethernet network and to provide control information to the 

wireless devices as claimed in the ‘473  Patent.  Defendant’s customers directly infringe at least 

claim 40 of the ‘473 Patent by connecting its wireless devices to the Defendant’s wireless 

network and using that network.  Defendant has known or remained willfully blind to these facts 

since at least the date it received the notice letter from IWS notifying Defendant that the use of 

its wireless networks infringed the ‘473 Patent. 

38. IWS has been harmed by the Defendant’s infringing activities.  

39. IWS notified Defendant of its infringement of the ‘473 Patent including an 

identification of the particular infringing product and features, but Defendant thereafter 

continued to infringe the ‘473 Patent by continuing the activities described in Paragraphs 32-33 

above.  On information and belief, Defendant has not obtained an opinion of counsel regarding 

the claims of ‘473 Patent.  The Defendant’s continued infringement has therefore been in 

reckless disregard of IWS’s patent rights.  On information and belief, the Defendant’s 

infringement has been and continues to be willful. 

JURY DEMAND 

40. IWS demands a jury trial on all issues and claims so triable. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, IWS prays for judgment as follows:   

a. An adjudication that Defendant has infringed one of more claims of each of the 

patents-in-suit;  

b. An award of damages to be paid by Defendant adequate to compensate IWS for 

past infringement of the patents-in-suit, and any continuing or future infringement through the 

date such judgment is entered, including interest, costs, expenses and an accounting of all 

infringing acts including, but not limited to, those acts not presented at trial; 

c. An order that Defendant must pay an ongoing royalty in an amount to be 

determined for any continued infringement after the date judgment is entered;   

d. An award of treble damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

e. A declaration finding this to be an exceptional case, and awarding IWS attorney 

fees under 35 U.S.C. §285; and 

f. For such further relief at law and in equity as the Court may deem just and proper. 

Case 2:13-cv-00309-JRG   Document 1    Filed 04/24/13   Page 14 of 15 PageID #:  14Case 1:13-cv-00504-LY   Document 1-10   Filed 06/14/13   Page 15 of 16



15 
 

g. Respectfully submitted, 

Dated:  April 24, 2013 
 

 GILLAM & SMITH, L.L.P. 

/s/ Melissa Richards Smith  
Melissa Richards Smith 
SBN 24001351 
E-mail: melissa@gillamsmithlaw.com 
Harry L. Gillam, Jr. 
SBN 07921800 
Email: gil@gillamsmithlaw.com 
William R. Lamb 
SBN 24080997 
Email: wrlamb@gillamsmithlaw.com 
303 South Washington Avenue  
Marshall, Texas 75670  
Phone: (903) 934-8450 
Facsimile: (903) 934-9257 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

MARSHALL DIVISION 

 

INNOVATIVE WIRELESS  §              
SOLUTIONS, LLC, §             Civil Case No. 2:13-cv-343 
   § 
  Plaintiff, § 
   §  
 v.  §             JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
   § 
HERITAGE INN NUMBER VII, LIMITED § 
PARTNERSHIP,   § 
HERITAGE INN NUMBER VIII, LIMITED § 
PARTNERSHIP,  § 
HERITAGE INN NUMBER X, LIMITED  § 
PARTNERSHIP,  § 
HERITAGE INN NUMBER XII, LIMITED  § 
PARTNERSHIP, § 
HERITAGE INN NUMBER XIV, LIMITED  § 
PARTNERSHIP, AND § 
HERITAGE INN NUMBER XV, LIMITED  § 
PARTNERSHIP, § 
   § 
  Defendants. § 

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

Plaintiff Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC, by way of its Complaint for Patent 

Infringement (“Complaint”) against Heritage Inn Number VII, Limited Partnership, Heritage Inn 

Number VIII, Limited Partnership, Heritage Inn Number X, Limited Partnership, Heritage Inn 

Number XI, Limited Partnership, Heritage Inn Number XIV, Limited Partnership, Heritage Inn 

Number XV, Limited Partnership, alleges as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the 

United States, 35 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. 

Case 2:13-cv-00343-JRG   Document 1    Filed 04/24/13   Page 1 of 17 PageID #:  1Case 1:13-cv-00504-LY   Document 1-11   Filed 06/14/13   Page 2 of 18



2 
 

  THE PARTIES 

2. Plaintiff Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC (“IWS”) is a Texas limited liability 

company with a place of business at 555 Republic Drive, Suite 200, Plano, Texas 75074. 

3. Defendant Heritage Inn Number VII, Limited Partnership (“Heritage VII”) is a 

limited partnership organized under the laws of the State of North Dakota. On information and 

belief Heritage VII has an address at 1202 Westrac Drive, P.O. Box 10519, Fargo, North Dakota 

58106. On information and belief, Heritage VII owns and operates lodging facilities within this 

District. 

4. Defendant Heritage Inn Number VIII, Limited Partnership (“Heritage VIII”) is a 

limited partnership organized under the laws of the State of North Dakota. On information and 

belief Heritage VIII has an address at 1202 Westrac Drive, P.O. Box 10519, Fargo, North Dakota 

58106.   On information and belief, Heritage VIII owns and operates lodging facilities within this 

District. 

5. Defendant Heritage Inn Number X, Limited Partnership (“Heritage X”) is a 

limited partnership organized under the laws of the State of North Dakota. On information and 

belief Heritage X has an address at 1202 Westrac Drive, P.O. Box 10519, Fargo, North Dakota 

58106.  On information and belief, Heritage X owns and operates lodging facilities within this 

District. 

6. Defendant Heritage Inn Number XII, Limited Partnership (“Heritage XII”) is a 

limited partnership organized under the laws of the State of North Dakota. On information and 

belief Heritage XII has an address at 1202 Westrac Drive, P.O. Box 10519, Fargo, North Dakota 

58106.   On information and belief, Heritage XII owns and operates lodging facilities within this 

District. 
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7. Defendant Heritage Inn Number XIV, Limited Partnership (“Heritage XIV”) is a 

limited partnership organized under the laws of the State of North Dakota. On information and 

belief Heritage XIV has an address at 1202 Westrac Drive, P.O. Box 10519, Fargo, North 

Dakota 58106. On information and belief, HAC owns and operates lodging facilities within this 

District. 

8. Defendant Heritage Inn Number XV, Limited Partnership (“Heritage XV”) is a 

limited partnership organized under the laws of the State of North Dakota. On information and 

belief Heritage XV has an address at 1202 Westrac Drive, P.O. Box 10519, Fargo, North Dakota 

58106.  On information and belief, Heritage XV owns and operates lodging facilities within this 

District. 

9. Heritage Inn Number VII, Limited Partnership, Heritage Inn Number VIII, 

Limited Partnership, Heritage Inn Number X, Limited Partnership, Heritage Inn Number XI, 

Limited Partnership, Heritage Inn Number XIV, Limited Partnership, Heritage Inn Number XV, 

Limited Partnership will be referred to collectively herein as “the Heritage Entities” or 

“Defendants.” 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

10. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the Patent Laws of the 

United States, Title 35 of the United States Code. 

11. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338. 

12. On information and belief, the Defendants are subject to the jurisdiction of this 

Court by reason of their acts of patent infringement which have been committed in this Judicial 

District, and by virtue of their regularly conducted and systematic business contacts in this State.  

Further, Defendants have operated infringing wireless networks in the forum which are at least 

used in and/or accessible at Defendants’ locations in this forum.  On information and belief, the 
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Defendants are subject to this Court’s specific and general personal jurisdiction, pursuant to due 

process and/or the Texas Long Arm Statute, due at least to their substantial business in this 

forum, including business related to the infringements alleged herein.  Further, on information 

and belief, Defendants are subject to the Court’s general jurisdiction as a result of their activities 

in the forum, including, regularly doing or soliciting business, engaging in other persistent 

courses of conduct, and/or deriving substantial revenue from goods and services provided to 

persons or entities in Texas.  As such, the Defendants have purposefully availed themselves of 

the privilege of conducting business within this Judicial District; have established sufficient 

minimum contacts with this Judicial District such that they should reasonably and fairly 

anticipate being haled into court in this Judicial District; have purposefully directed activities at 

residents of this State; and at least a portion of the patent infringement claims alleged herein arise 

out of or are related to one or more of the foregoing activities. 

13. Venue is proper in this Judicial District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(c) and 1400(b). 

THE PATENTS-IN-SUIT 

14. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 13 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

15. On June 15, 1999, U.S. Patent Number 5,912,895 (the “‘895 Patent”), entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines,” was duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  

A true and correct copy of the ‘895 Patent is attached as Exhibit A to this Complaint. 

16. On December 4, 2001, U.S. Patent Number 6,327,264 (the “‘264 Patent”), entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines,” was duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  

A true and correct copy of the ‘264 Patent is attached as Exhibit B to this Complaint. 
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17. On July 1, 2003, U.S. Patent Number 6,587,473 (the “‘473 Patent”), entitled 

“Information network access apparatus and methods for communicating information packets via 

telephone lines,” was duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  

A true and correct copy of the ‘473 Patent is attached as Exhibit C to this Complaint. 

18. IWS is the assignee and owner of the right, title and interest in and to the ‘895, 

‘264 and ‘473 Patents (henceforth collectively the “patents-in-suit”) including the right to assert 

all causes of action arising under said patents and the right to any remedies for infringement.  

JOINDER 

19. Joinder is proper under 35 U.S.C. § 299.  On information and belief, the 

allegations of infringement contained herein are asserted against the Defendants jointly, 

severally, or in the alternative and arise, at least in part, out of the same series of transactions or 

occurrences relating to the making, using, offering for sale, and selling of the same accused 

product and processes.  On information and belief, the Defendants are part of the same corporate 

family of companies, and the infringement allegations arise at least in part from the Defendants’ 

collective activities with respect to the wireless networks at the Defendants’ lodging properties in 

this District.  Questions of fact common to the Defendants will arise in the action, including 

questions relating to the ownership and management of the Defendants’ wireless networks, the 

structure and operation of the Defendants’ wireless networks, and validity of the patents-in-suit. 

COUNT I – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 5,912,895 

20. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 19 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

21. IWS provided actual notice to the Defendants of their infringement of the ‘895 

Patent in letters dated April 10, 2013 from IWS to the Defendants.  In those letters, IWS 

informed the Defendants that they were infringing the ‘895 Patent by making, using, offering to 
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sell, and selling the use of an IEEE 802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point 

(“WAP”) connected to an Ethernet network (collectively, “wireless Internet access”).  IWS’s 

letters further informed the Defendants that their wireless network satisfied all of limitations of at 

least claim 48 of the ‘895 patent in at least the following manner:  

a. The WAP in the Defendants’ WiFi network provides communication with 

a CSMA/CD network (an Ethernet network) via a bidirectional communications path (an 

802.11 wireless path). 

b. The WAP is located at a first end of the 802.11 wireless path and includes 

an Ethernet interface to an Ethernet network.  Ethernet is a CSMA/CD technology.  The 

WAP includes a buffer for buffering information packets received from the Ethernet 

network via the Ethernet interface for supply to the 802.11 wireless path.  The WAP also 

includes a buffer for buffering information packets received from the 802.11 wireless 

path for supply to the Ethernet network via the Ethernet interface.  The WAP also 

includes a controller that implements the medium access control (“MAC”) protocol as 

defined in IEEE 802.11.  

c. A wireless station is connected at a second end of the 802.11 wireless 

path.  The wireless station includes a buffer for buffering information packets received 

from the 802.11 wireless path, a buffer for buffering information packets to be supplied 

to the 802.11 wireless path, and a MAC controller.   

d. The MAC controller in the WAP and the MAC controller in the wireless 

station are arranged to exchange control information over the 802.11 wireless path so as 

to allow information packets to be communicated bi-directionally over the 802.11 
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wireless path between the buffers of the WAP and the wireless station in a half-duplex 

manner. 

22. IWS’s letters further informed the Defendants that they were inducing 

infringement of the ‘895 Patent by offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless 

Internet access, and encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.   IWS’s letters also 

informed the Defendants that they were contributing to infringement of the ‘895 Patent by 

providing wireless Internet access  because their wireless network constitutes a material part of 

the invention, was especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘895 

Patent, and has no substantial non-infringing uses.  The letters explained that the Defendants’ 

wireless network constitutes a material part of the claimed invention at least because it contains 

the components that interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control 

information to the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  The letters also explained that 

the Defendants’ wireless network was made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of 

the ‘895 Patent and has no substantial non-infringing uses at least because it contains 

components whose only purpose is to interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and 

to provide control information to the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  With 

respect to both induced infringement and contributory infringement, IWS’s letters informed the 

Defendants that the direct infringers were their guests, customers and end users.   

23. The Defendants have had actual knowledge of the ‘895 Patent and their 

infringement of that patent since at least the date that the Defendants received the April 10, 2013 

notice letters from IWS. 

24. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), the Defendants have directly infringed and 

continue to directly infringe, both literally and under the doctrine of equivalents, the ‘895 Patent 

Case 2:13-cv-00343-JRG   Document 1    Filed 04/24/13   Page 7 of 17 PageID #:  7Case 1:13-cv-00504-LY   Document 1-11   Filed 06/14/13   Page 8 of 18



8 
 

by making, using, offering to sell, and selling the use of wireless networks, including an IEEE 

802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point coupled to an Ethernet network.   

25. Upon information and belief, the Defendants have induced and continue to induce 

others to infringe the ‘895 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by, among other things, and with 

specific intent or willful blindness, actively aiding and abetting others to infringe, including, but 

not limited to, the Defendants’ customers and guests whose connection of wireless devices to the 

Defendants’ wireless networks and use of the Defendants’ wireless networks constitutes direct 

infringement of at least claim 48 of the ‘895 Patent.  In particular, the Defendants’ actions that 

aid and abet others such as their customers and guests to infringe include offering wireless 

Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and encouraging others to use that 

wireless Internet access.  On information and belief, the Defendants have engaged in such 

actions with specific intent to cause infringement or with willful blindness to the resulting 

infringement because the Defendants have had actual knowledge of the ‘895 Patent and that their 

acts were inducing their customers and guests to infringe the ‘895 Patent since at least the date 

they received the notice letters from IWS notifying the Defendants that their wireless networks 

infringed the ‘895 Patent.   

26. Upon information and belief, the Defendants have committed and continue to 

commit acts of contributory infringement of the ‘895 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c) by offering 

to sell and selling the use of their wireless networks to others, including their customers and 

guests, while knowing or willfully blind to the fact that that these products constitute a material 

part of the invention, were especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of 

the ‘895 Patent, and have no substantial non-infringing uses.  The Defendants’ wireless networks 

constitute a material part of the invention at least because they contain the components that 
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interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control information to the 

wireless devices as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  The Defendants’ wireless networks were 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘895 Patent and have no 

substantial non-infringing uses at least because they contain components whose only purpose is 

to interface the Defendants’ wireless networks to an Ethernet network and to provide control 

information to the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘895 Patent.  The Defendant’s customers 

and guests directly infringe at least claim 48 of the ‘895 Patent by connecting their wireless 

device to the Defendants’ wireless networks.   The Defendants have known or remained willfully 

blind to these facts since at least the date they received the notice letter from IWS notifying the 

Defendants that the use of their wireless networks infringed the ‘895 Patent. 

27. IWS has been harmed by the Defendants’ infringing activities.  

28. IWS notified Defendants of their infringement of the ‘895 Patent including an 

identification of the particular infringing product and features, but the Defendants thereafter 

continued to infringe the ‘895 Patent by continuing the activities described in Paragraph 21-22.  

On information and belief, Defendants have not obtained an opinion of counsel regarding the 

claims of ‘895 Patent.  The Defendants’ continued infringement has therefore been in reckless 

disregard of IWS’s patent rights.  On information and belief, the Defendants’ infringement has 

been and continues to be willful. 

COUNT II – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,327,264 

29. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 28 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

30. IWS provided actual notice to the Defendants of their infringement of the ‘264 

Patent in letters dated April 10, 2013 from IWS to the Defendants.  In those letters, IWS 

informed the Defendants that they were infringing the ‘264 Patent by making, using, offering to 
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sell, and selling the use of an IEEE 802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point 

connected to an Ethernet network.  IWS’s letters further informed the Defendants that their 

wireless network satisfied all of limitations of at least claim 5 of the ‘264 patent in at least the 

following manner:  

a. The WAP in the Defendants’ WiFi network allows wireless devices to 

connect to a network. 

b. The WAP includes an Ethernet interface for coupling to an Ethernet 

network.  Ethernet is a CSMA/CD technology. 

c. The WAP includes an 802.11 interface for coupling to the 802.11 wireless 

network which provides a wireless bidirectional communications path.   

d. The WAP includes a controller that implements the medium access control 

(“MAC”) protocol as defined in IEEE 802.11.  In accordance with the MAC protocol, the 

controller provides information that controls when wireless devices connected to the 

network are allowed to transmit, thereby causing the communications over the wireless 

network to occur in a half-duplex manner.  

e. The WAP includes a first buffer that holds frames received from the 

Ethernet network via the Ethernet interface and then supplies those frames via the 802.11 

interface to the wireless network. 

f. The WAP includes a second buffer that holds frames received from the 

wireless network via the 802.11 interface and then supplies those frames via the Ethernet 

interface to the Ethernet network. 

31. IWS’s letters further informed the Defendants that they were inducing 

infringement of the ‘264 Patent by offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless 
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Internet access, and encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.   With respect to 

induced infringement, IWS’s letters informed the Defendants that the direct infringers were their 

guests, customers and end users.   

32. The Defendants have had actual knowledge of the ‘264 Patent and their 

infringement of that patent since at least the date that the Defendants received the April 10, 2013 

notice letters from IWS. 

33. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), the Defendants have directly infringed and 

continue to directly infringe, both literally and under the doctrine of equivalents, the ‘264 Patent 

by making, using, offering to sell, and selling the use of wireless networks, including an IEEE 

802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless access point coupled to an Ethernet network.   

34. Upon information and belief, the Defendants have induced and continue to induce 

others to infringe the ‘264 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by, among other things, and with 

specific intent or willful blindness, actively aiding and abetting others to infringe, including, but 

not limited to, the Defendants’ customers and guests whose use of the Defendants’ wireless 

networks constitutes direct infringement of at least claim 5 of the ‘264 Patent.  In particular, the 

Defendants’ actions that aid and abet others such as their customers and guests to infringe 

include offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and 

encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.  On information and belief, the 

Defendants have engaged in such actions with specific intent to cause infringement or with 

willful blindness to the resulting infringement because the Defendants have had actual 

knowledge of the ‘264 Patent and that their acts were inducing their customers and guests to 

infringe the ‘264 Patent since at least the date they received the notice letters from IWS notifying 

the Defendants that their wireless networks infringed the ‘264 Patent.   
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35. IWS has been harmed by the Defendants’ infringing activities.  

36. IWS notified Defendants of their infringement of the ‘264 Patent including an 

identification of the particular infringing product and features, but the Defendants thereafter 

continued to infringe the ‘264 Patent by continuing the activities described in Paragraph 30-31.  

On information and belief, Defendants have not obtained an opinion of counsel regarding the 

claims of ‘264 Patent.  The Defendants’ continued infringement has therefore been in reckless 

disregard of IWS’s patent rights.  On information and belief, the Defendants’ infringement has 

been and continues to be willful. 

COUNT III – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,587,473 

37. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 36 are hereby 

realleged and incorporated herein by reference. 

38. IWS provided actual notice to the Defendants of their infringement of the ‘473 

Patent in its letters dated April 10, 2013 from IWS to the Defendants.  In those letters, IWS 

informed the Defendants that they were infringing the ‘473 Patent through the use of their IEEE 

802.11 wireless network.  IWS’s letters further informed the Defendants that they were 

infringing at least claim 40 of the ‘473 Patent by performing each of the steps of that claim in at 

least the following manner:  

a. The WAP in the Defendants’ WiFi network provides communication 

between a CSMA/CD network (an Ethernet network) and a bidirectional communications 

path (an 802.11 wireless network). 

b. The WAP includes an Ethernet interface that contains an Ethernet modem 

that receives information packets from an Ethernet network.  

c. The WAP transmits the information packets over the 802.11 wireless path 

in a direction towards a mobile station. 
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d. The WAP includes a controller that implements the medium access control 

(“MAC”) protocol as defined in IEEE 802.11.  In accordance with the MAC protocol, the 

controller provides information that controls when wireless devices connected to the 

network are allowed to transmit, thereby causing the communications over the wireless 

network to occur in a half-duplex manner.  

e. The WAP receives information corresponding to information packets from 

the 802.11 wireless path at the Ethernet modem and transmits those information packets 

over the Ethernet network. 

39. IWS’s letters further informed the Defendants that they were inducing 

infringement of the ‘473 Patent by offering wireless Internet access, advertising that wireless 

Internet access, and encouraging others to use that wireless Internet access.  IWS’s letters also 

informed the Defendants that they were contributing to infringement of the ‘473 Patent by 

providing wireless Internet access because their wireless network constitutes a material part of 

the invention, was especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘473 

Patent, and has no substantial non-infringing uses.  The letters explained that the Defendants’ 

wireless network constitutes a material part of the claimed invention at least because it contains 

the components that interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control 

information to the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘473 Patent.  The letters also explained that 

the Defendants’ wireless network was made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of 

the ‘473 Patent and has no substantial non-infringing uses at least because it contains 

components whose only purpose is to interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and 

to provide control information to the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘473 Patent.  With 
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respect to both induced infringement and contributory infringement, IWS’s letters informed the 

Defendants that the direct infringers were their guests, customers and end users.   

40. The Defendants have had actual knowledge of the ‘473  Patent and their 

infringement of that patent since at least the date that the Defendants received the April 10, 2013 

notice letters from IWS. 

41. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), the Defendants have directly infringed and 

continue to directly infringe, both literally and under the doctrine of equivalents, the ‘473 Patent 

by using wireless networks, including an IEEE 802.11 wireless network that includes a wireless 

access point coupled to an Ethernet network.   

42. Upon information and belief, the Defendants have induced and continue to induce 

others to infringe the  ‘473 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by, among other things, and with 

specific intent or willful blindness, actively aiding and abetting others to infringe, including, but 

not limited to, the Defendants’ customers and guests whose connection of wireless devices to the 

Defendants’ wireless networks and use of the Defendants’ wireless networks constitutes direct 

infringement of at least claim 40 of the ‘473 Patent.  In particular, the Defendants’ actions that 

aid and abet others such as their customers and guests to infringe include offering wireless 

Internet access, advertising that wireless Internet access, and encouraging others to use that 

wireless Internet access.  On information and belief, the Defendants have engaged in such 

actions with specific intent to cause infringement or with willful blindness to the resulting 

infringement because the Defendants have had actual knowledge of the ‘473 Patent and that their 

acts were inducing their customers and guests to infringe the ‘473 Patent since at least the date 

they received the notice letters from IWS notifying the Defendants that their wireless networks 

infringed the ‘473 Patent.   
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43. Upon information and belief, the Defendants have committed and continue to 

commit acts of contributory infringement of the ‘473 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 271(c) by offering 

to sell and selling the use of their wireless networks to others, including their customers and 

guests, while knowing or willfully blind to the fact that that these products constitute a material 

part of the invention, were especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of 

the ‘473 Patent, and have no substantial non-infringing uses.  The Defendants’ wireless networks 

constitute a material part of the claimed invention at least because they contain the components 

that interface the wireless network to an Ethernet network and provide control information to the 

wireless devices as claimed in the ‘473 Patent.  The Defendants’ wireless networks were 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘473 Patent and have no 

substantial non-infringing uses at least because they contain components whose only purpose is 

to interface the Defendants’ wireless networks to an Ethernet network and to provide control 

information to the wireless devices as claimed in the ‘473  Patent.  The Defendant’s customers 

and guests directly infringe at least claim 40 of the ‘473 Patent by connecting their wireless 

devices to the Defendants’ wireless network and using that network.   The Defendants have 

known or remained willfully blind to these facts since at least the date they received the notice 

letter from IWS notifying the Defendants that the use of their wireless networks infringed the 

‘473 Patent. 

44. IWS has been harmed by the Defendants’ infringing activities.  

45. IWS notified Defendants of their infringement of the ‘473 Patent including an 

identification of the particular infringing product and features, but the Defendants thereafter 

continued to infringe the ‘473 Patent by continuing the activities described in Paragraph 38-39 

above.  On information and belief, Defendants have not obtained an opinion of counsel regarding 
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the claims of ‘473 Patent.  The Defendants’ continued infringement has therefore been in 

reckless disregard of IWS’s patent rights.  On information and belief, the Defendants’ 

infringement has been and continues to be willful. 

JURY DEMAND 

46. IWS demands a jury trial on all issues and claims so triable. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, IWS prays for judgment as follows:   

a. An adjudication that Defendants have infringed one of more claims of each of the 

patents-in-suit;  

b. An award of damages to be paid by the Defendants adequate to compensate IWS 

for past infringement of the patents-in-suit, and any continuing or future infringement through 

the date such judgment is entered, including interest, costs, expenses and an accounting of all 

infringing acts including, but not limited to, those acts not presented at trial; 

c. An order that Defendants must pay an ongoing royalty in an amount to be 

determined for any continued infringement after the date judgment is entered;   

d. An award of treble damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

e. A declaration finding this to be an exceptional case, and awarding IWS attorney 

fees under 35 U.S.C. §285; and 

f. For such further relief at law and in equity as the Court may deem just and proper. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

Dated:  April 24, 2013 
 

 GILLAM & SMITH, L.L.P. 

/s/ Melissa Richards Smith  
Melissa Richards Smith 
SBN 24001351 
E-mail: melissa@gillamsmithlaw.com 
Harry L. Gillam, Jr. 
SBN 07921800 
Email: gil@gillamsmithlaw.com 
William R. Lamb 
SBN 24080997 
Email: wrlamb@gillamsmithlaw.com 
303 South Washington Avenue  
Marshall, Texas 75670  
Phone: (903) 934-8450 
Facsimile: (903) 934-9257 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Innovative Wireless Solutions, LLC 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

__________________________________________ 
       ) 
RUCKUS WIRELESS, INC.,     )    
       ) 
       ) 
  Plaintiff,    ) 
       ) 
 v.      ) Civil Action No.1:13-cv-00504 
       )  
INNOVATIVE WIRELESS SOLUTIONS, LLC, ) 
       ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
  Defendant.    ) 
__________________________________________) 
 

PLAINTIFF’S RULE 7.1 CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

Plaintiff Ruckus Wireless, Inc. identifies the following parent corporation and publicly 

held corporation(s) owning 10% or more of its stock:  none.   

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
Dated:  June 14, 2013 

 
ATTORNEYS FOR 
PLAINTIFF RUCKUS 
WIRELESS, INC. 
 
/s/ Thomas W. Sankey  
Thomas W. Sankey 
Texas State bar No. 17635670 
twsankey@duanemorris.com 
Diana M. Sangalli 
Texas State bar No. 24033926 
dmsangalli@duanemorris.com 
DUANE MORRIS LLP 
1330 Post Oak Boulevard, 
Suite 800 
Houston, TX 77056-3166 
Tel: 713-402-3900 
Fax: 713-402-3901 
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Of Counsel (Applications for Pro Hac 
Admission Pending): 
 
Woody Jameson 
wjameson@duanemorris.com 
Matthew S. Yungwirth 
msyungwirth@duanemorris.com 
DUANE MORRIS LLP 
Suite 2000 
1075 Peachtree Street NE 
Atlanta, GA 30309 
Tel: 404-253-6900 
Fax: 404-253-6901 
 
Jeffrey S. Pollack 
jspollack@duanemorris.com 
DUANE MORRIS LLP 
30 South 17th Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 
Tel: 215-979-1000 
Fax: 215-979-1020 
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